
 

 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been translated into the English language solely for the 

convenience of international readers. Accordingly, only the original text in Italian language is 

authoritative. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

(in thousands of €) Note 
As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

Intangible assets (1) 2,440  2,142  1,498  

Property, plant and equipment (2) 145,507  115,043  89,028  

Right-of-use assets (3) 61,993  44,004  23,811  

Investments in associates (4.2) -    12,015  11,305  

Non-current financial assets (5) 17,797  12,883  9,901  

Deferred tax assets (6) 23,025  22,410  10,252  

Other non-current assets (7) 1,907  890  1,631  

Total Non-Current Assets  252,669  209,387  147,426  

Inventories (8) 219,948 132,746  127,874  

Trade receivables (9) 97,019  59,728  66,209  

Current financial assets  -    -    4,976  

Other current assets (10) 27,094 12,903  10,554  

Current tax receivables (11) 1,896  2,730  5,208  

Cash and cash equivalents (12) 137,662  107,655  44,839  

Total Current Assets  483,619  315,762  259,660  

TOTAL ASSETS  736,288  525,149  407,086  

Share capital  6,112  6,112  4,500  

Share premium reserve  34,410  34,410  -    

Other Reserves  5,204  (5,950) (2,228) 

Retained Earnings  81,829  63,077  60,912  

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company (13) 127,555  97,649  63,184  

Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests (14) 19,772  6,307  4,798  

Total Equity  147,327  103,956  67,982  

Non-current financial liabilities and borrowings (15) 134,997  129,548  75,546  

Non-current lease liabilities (16) 47,568  36,564  19,485  

Employee benefits (17) 4,809  5,080  5,087  

Deferred tax liabilities (6) 8,088 4,296  3,462  

Provisions (18) 402  384  384  

Other non-current liabilities (19) 9,906  4,785  2,229  

Total Non-Current Liabilities  205,770  180,657  106,193  

Current financial liabilities and borrowings (15) 97,535  85,182  114,143  

Current lease liabilities (16) 7,768  4,763  2,902  

Trade payables (20) 240,210  129,214  100,621  

Other current liabilities (21) 35,263  21,122 14,513  

Current tax liabilities (22) 2,415  255  732  

Total Current Liabilities  383,191  240,536  232,911  

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  736,288 525,149  407,086  

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

  



 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

 

(in thousands of €) Note For the year ended December 31, 
  2021 2020 2019 

Revenues (23) 556,904  373,290  352,074  

Other income  2,211  1,826  1,663  

Change in work in progress, semi-finished and 

finished product inventories 
(24)       10,628  (4,137) 2,297  

Costs for purchases of raw materials (25) (351,737) (223,932) (211,129) 

Costs for external services (26) (71,522) (51,856) (48,559) 

Personnel costs (27) (88,551) (71,429) (67,668) 

Other expenses (28) (2,091) (3,838) (1,381) 

Share of results of associates  2,846  (190) (1,121) 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (29) (23,269) (18,313) (17,566) 

Operating Profit  35,419 1,421  8,610  

Financial income (30) 849  1,436  709  

Financial costs (31) (7,676) (6,257) (5,342) 

Exchange gains/(losses) (32) 1,081  (1,362) 17  

Profit / (Loss) before tax   29,673 (4,762) 3,994  

Income taxes (33) (8,982) 7,084  26  

Profit for the year  20,691 2,322  4,020  

Attributable to:     

Owners of the Company        18,752  2,200  3,660  

Non-controlling interests          1,939  122  360  

Earnings per share basic and diluted (34) 3.07  0.41  0.81  

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

  



 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS 

 

(in thousands of €) Note 2021 2020 2019 

Profit for the year  20,691 2,322  4,020  

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  11,677  (4,130) 1,449  

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on translating foreign operations (13) 6,506  (5,968) 1,315  

Fair value gain on equity instruments measured at FVTOCI (13) 6,820  2,420  176  

Tax effects of fair value gain/(loss) on equity instruments 

measured at FVTOCI 

 
(1,636) (582) (42) 

Fair value (loss) arising on hedging instruments during the 

period 

(13) 
(17) -    -    

Tax effects relating to items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 

(13) 
4   

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  60  (164) (338) 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan (13) 79  (216) (445) 

Tax effects relating to items that will not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 

(13) 
(19) 52  107 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  
11,737 (4,293) 1,111 

Attributable to:     

Owners of the Company   29,906  (1,557) 4,695  

Non-controlling interests   2,522  (415) 436  

Total comprehensive income for the year   32,428  (1,972) 5,131  

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or Loss should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  



 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

(in thousands of €) 

 

 

Note 

For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Profit for the year                 20,691            2,322               4,020  

Income taxes (33)                  8,982           (7,084)                 (26) 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (29)                23,269          18,313             17,566  

Difference between pension funding contributions paid 

and the pension cost charge 

(17) 
                  (444)             (171)               (107) 

Financial income (30)                   (849)          (1,436)               (709) 

Financial costs (31)                  7,676            6,257               5,342  

(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment                      (43)             (357)                 (44) 

Allocation to the provision for obsolete inventory (8)                   5,453   824                  345  

Allocation to the provision for doubtful debt provision (9)                   (115)           1,283               (114) 

Share award expenses (27)                  3,698            1,271                  356  

Share of results of associates                 (2,846)             (710)              1,121  

Net change in Provision  (18)                       18                  -                  (339) 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  65,491         20,512             27,411  

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (9)              (30,622)           8,676             (7,573) 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (8)              (87,956)             (140)            (1,181) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables (20)              107,543          24,055               6,724  

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liabilities (22)                   (471)          (4,031)            (1,520) 

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (10)              (13,374) 1,876                           4,787  

Increase/(decrease) in other payables (21)                11,217            6,868                (190) 

Cash flow from operating activities                 51,828          57,816             28,458  

Income taxes paid                 (3,419)          (1,605)            (1,579) 

Net cash flow from operating activities (A)                 48,409          56,211             26,879  

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2)              (37,093) (24,776)          (22,667) 

Proceeds of property, plant and equipment (2)                     806             1,009                 170  

Acquisition of intangible assets (1)                    (319)                (543)               (589) 

(Increase) in financial receivables from parent company  (5)                        -                (624) -           

Proceeds of financial receivables from associates (5) - - (5,258) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash and cash equivalents                 19,041           1,091                    -    

Interest received                      826            1,423                  700  

Dividends received                   1,400                  -                    350  

Net cash flow (used in) investment activities (B)               (15,339)       (22,420)          (27,294) 

Issue of new bank borrowings (15)                56,193        131,475             41,384  

Repayment of bank borrowings (15)              (34,545)        (97,574)          (26,869) 

Repayment of current financial liabilities (15)               (18,060)        (33,109) (6,409)  

Proceeds from current financial liabilities  (15)  11,781 8,381             19,392  

Principal repayment of lease liabilities (16)              (10,377)          (5,434)            (3,296) 

Dividends paid                 (2,519)               (42)               (221) 

Interest paid                 (7,412)          (5,734)            (5,333) 

Proceeds on issue of shares                         -            36,021                    -    

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (C)  (4,939) 33,984 18,648 

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C)  28,131 67,775 18,233 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year               107,655          44,839             24,478  

Effect of changes in exchange rates               1,876             (4,959)            2,128  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year               137,662        107,655             44,839  

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(in thousands of €) 
Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

reserve 

Other Reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Equity of the 

Group 

Equity of 

non-controllin

g interests 

Total 

Equity 
Legal 

reserve 

IFRS transition 

reserve 

Foreign 

exchange 

translation 

Other 

comprehensi

ve income 

December 31, 2019 4,500 - 613 (3,875) 1,227 (193) 60,912 63,184 4,798 67,982 

Allocation of year-end profit   35    (35) - - - 

Issue of share capital increase 1,612 34,410      36,022  36,022 

Dividends paid         (42) (42) 

Change in scope of consolidated 

companies 
        1,966 1,966 

Profit for the year       2,200 2,200 122 2,322 

Actuarial (loss)      (153)  (153) (11) (164) 

Fair value gain on equity 

instruments measured at FVTOCI 
     1,838  1,838  1,838 

Exchange foreign (losses)     (5,442)   (5,442) (526) (5,968) 

Total other comprehensive income 

for the year 
- -  - (5,442) 1,685 2,200 (1,557) (415) (1,972) 

December 31, 2020 6,112  34,410  648  (3,875) (4,215) 1,492  63,077  97,649  6,307  103,956  

Dividends paid         (2,519) (2,519) 

Change in scope of consolidated 

companies 
        13,462 13,462 

Profit for the year       18,752 18,752 1,939 20,691 

Actuarial gain      54  54 6 60 

Fair value gain on equity 

instruments measured at FVTOCI 
     5,184  5,184 - 5,184 

Fair value (loss) arising on hedging 

instruments during the period 
     (13)  (13)  (13) 

Exchange foreign gains     5,929   5,929 577 6,506 

Total other comprehensive income 

for the year 
    5,929 5,225 18,752 29,906 2,522 32,428 

December 31, 2021 6,112 34,410 648 (3,875) 1,714 6,717 81,829 127,555 19,772 147,327 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

REPORTING STANDARDS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

 

General information 

 

EuroGroup Laminations S.p.A. (hereinafter “Company” and “EuroGroup Laminations”) is a joint stock 

company incorporated and registered in Italy. Its ultimate controlling party is Euro Management Services 

S.p.A. (also referred as E.M.S.). The address of the Company’s registered office is Via Stella Rosa 48/50, 

Baranzate (Milan, Italy). 

 

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred as “the Group”) and the 

nature of the Group’s operations regard the production of rotors and stators for rotating electrical 

machines (electric motors and generators), through cutting (both progressive and in block) or punching 

of magnetic laminations, the latter for large electrical machines, as well as the aluminum mold casting 

of rotors intended for such electrical machines. Moreover, also in these sectors, the Group carries out the 

assembly of the aforesaid goods and the related ancillary processes, as well as the design and 

construction of molds for the cutting of the laminations described above. 

 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 18 November 2022. 

 

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, 

are audited by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.. 

 

Basis of preparation 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, have been prepared in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union. The term "IFRS" also 

encompasses all the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and all interpretations published by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), the former Standing Interpretations 

Committee (SIC). 

 

EuroGroup Laminations adopted the IFRS endorsed by the European Union for the first time on January 

1, 2019. Therefore, these consolidated financial statements include comparative figures for the previous 

year as required by such standards. The parent company prepared the IFRS consolidated financial 

statements as of December 31, 2021 partly for inclusion in the prospectus prepared pursuant to article 

94.1/2 of Legislative decree no. 58 of February 24, 1998, in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 

(EC) no. 1129/2017 for the listing of its ordinary shares on the stock exchange organized and managed 

by Borsa Italiana S.p.A.. 

 

As required by IFRS 1, the effects of the transition to the IFRS on the consolidated equity reported under 

Italian GAAP (“ITA GAAP”) (both as at the date of transition and at the end of the latest periods presented 

in the most recent consolidated financial statements) as well as on the total comprehensive income 

have been disclosed further in these notes. 

 

Format of the financial statements 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income or loss, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated 

statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the explanatory notes (the 

“Consolidated Financial Statements”). 

 

The Group presents its consolidated income statement using a classification method based on the nature 

of expense, as it is representative of the format used by management for internal reporting processes to 

evaluate business operations, and able to provide reliable information to investors.  

 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is presented as a separate statement and, in 

addition to presenting the components of profit and loss recognised directly in the consolidated 



 

 

 

statement of profit and loss during the period, presents the components of profit and loss not recognised 

in profit or loss as required or permitted by IFRS. 

 

The Group presents current and non-current assets and liabilities as separate classifications in its 

consolidated financial statements. Current items are those expected to be realized within 12 months from 

the reporting date or to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle of the Group. 

 

The Group presents its consolidated statement of cash flows using the indirect method, as permitted by 

IAS 7 — Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”), and presents cash flows by operating, investing and financing 

activities. 

 

These financial statements are presented in Euro and rounded to the nearest thousand, which is the 

Company functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency. Foreign operations are included 

in accordance with the policies set out in the following notes. 

 

Adoption of new and revised Standards 

 

IFRS STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLIED FROM JANUARY 1, 2019 

 

The following IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations were applied for the first time 

by the Group from January 1, 2019: 

  

▪ On March 31, 2021, the IASB published an amendment entitled "Covid-19-Related Rent 

Concessions beyond June 30, 2021 (Amendments to IFRS 16)" by which it extends by one year 

the period of application of the amendment issued in 2020, which provided lessees the option 

to account for Covid-19-related rent reductions without having to assess through contract 

analysis whether the definition of lease modification in IFRS 16 was met. Therefore, the lessees 

who applied this option in fiscal year 2020 accounted for the effects of rent reductions directly 

in the income statement on the effective date of the reduction. The 2021 amendment, which is 

only available to entities that have already adopted the 2020 amendment, applies from April 1, 

2021, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of these amendments does not have any 

effects on the Group consolidated financial statements. 

 

▪ On June 25, 2020, the IASB published an amendment called "Extension of the Temporary 

Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 (Amendments to IFRS 4)". The amendments allow the temporary 

exemption from the application of IFRS 9 to be extended until January 1, 2023 for insurance 

companies. The adoption of this amendment does not have effects on the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group.  

 

▪ On August 27, 2020, the IASB published, in light of the reform on interbank interest rates such as 

IBOR, the document "Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2" which contains amendments to 

the following standards: 

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; 

- IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; 

- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures; 

- IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts; and 

- IFRS 16 Leases. 

All the amendments entered into force as of January 1, 2021. The adoption of this amendment 

does not have a significant impact on the Group consolidated financial statements. 

 

IFRS AND IFRIC ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ENDORSED BY THE 

EUROPEAN UNION, NOT MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE YET AND NOT ADOPTED EARLY BY THE GROUP AS OF 

DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 

▪ On May 14, 2020, the IASB published the following amendments: 

o Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: the purpose of the amendments is to 

update the reference in IFRS 3 to the revised version of the Conceptual Framework, 

without changing the provisions of the standard. 

o Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: the purpose of the amendments 

is not to allow the amount received from the sale of goods produced during the testing 

phase of the asset to be deducted from the cost of the asset. These sales revenues and 

related costs will therefore be recognised to the statement of profit or loss. 



 

 

 

o Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: the 

amendment clarifies that in estimating the possible onerousness of a contract, all costs 

directly attributable to the contract must be considered. Accordingly, the assessment 

of whether a contract is onerous includes not only incremental costs (such as the cost 

of direct material used in processing), but also all costs that the enterprise cannot avoid 

because it has entered into the contract (such as, for example, the share of 

depreciation of machinery used to perform the contract). 

o Annual Improvements 2018-2020: the amendments were made to IFRS 1 First-time 

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 

41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples of IFRS 16 Leases. 

 

All the amendments will enter into force from January 1, 2022. The Directors do not expect these 

amendments to have a significant impact on the Group consolidated financial statements. 

 

▪ On May 18, 2017, the IASB published IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts which replaces IFRS 4 - 

Insurance Contracts. The new standard ensures that an entity provides pertinent information 

which accurately presents the rights and obligations under insurance contracts. The IASB 

developed the standard in order to eliminate inconsistencies and weaknesses in the existing 

accounting policies, providing a single principle-based framework to take account of all types 

of insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts held by an insurer. The new standard sets 

out in addition presentation and disclosure requirements to improve comparability between 

entities belonging to the same sector. It measures insurance contracts on the basis of a General 

Model or a simplified version of such, called the Premium Allocation Approach (“PAA”). 

The main features of the General Model are: 

o the estimates and assumptions of future cash flows always refer to the current portion; 

o the measurement reflects the time value of money; 

o the estimates include an extensive use of observable market information; 

o a current and clear risk measurement exists; 

o the expected profit is deferred and aggregated into groups of insurance contracts on 

initial recognition; and, 

o the expected profit is recognised in the period of contractual coverage, taking account 

of adjustments from changes in the assumptions on cash flows for each group of 

contracts.  

The PAA approach involves the measuring of the liability for the residual coverage of a group of 

insurance contracts on the condition that, on initial recognition, the entity expects that this 

liability reasonably reflects an approximation of the General Model. Contracts with a coverage 

period of one year or less are automatically considered appropriate for the PAA approach. The 

simplifications from application of the PAA method do not apply to the valuation of liabilities for 

existing claims, which are measured with the General Model. However, it is necessary to discount 

these cash flows where it is expected that the balance will be paid or received within one year 

from the date on which the claim occurred. The entity should apply the new standard to 

insurance contracts issued, including reinsurance contracts issued, reinsurance contracts held 

and also investment contracts with a discretionary participation feature (DPF). 

The standard is effective from January 1, 2023, although advance application is permitted, only 

for entities applying IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers.  The Directors do not expect this standard to have a significant impact on the Group 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

▪ On February 12, 2021, the IASB published two amendments entitled “Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies—Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2” and “Definition of Accounting 

Estimates—Amendments to IAS 8”. The changes are intended to 

improve disclosure on accounting policies to provide more useful information to investors and 

other primary users of financial statements and to help companies distinguish between changes 

in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. The amendments will be 

applicable from January 1, 2023, although advance application is permitted. The Directors do 

not expect these amendments to have a significant impact on the Group consolidated financial 

statements.   

 

▪ On May 7, 2021, the IASB published an amendment called “Amendments to IAS 12 Income 

Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”. The 

document clarifies how deferred taxes should be accounted for on certain transactions that can 

generate assets and liabilities of equal amounts, such as leases and decommissioning 

obligations. The amendments will be applicable from January 1, 2023, although advance 



 

 

 

application is permitted. The Directors do not expect this amendment to have a significant 

impact on the Group consolidated financial statements.  

 

▪ On 19 November 2021, the IASB published the new “International Financial Reporting Standard 

(IFRS) 17 Insurance Contracts”. IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current 

fulfillment value and provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all 

insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent, 

principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts as of 1 January 2023. The standard will be applicable to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Directors do not expect this amendment to have a 

significant impact on the Group consolidated financial statements. 

 

▪ On December 9, 2021, the IASB published an amendment called "Amendments to IFRS 17 

Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information”. The 

amendment is a transition option related to comparative information on financial assets 

presented at the date of initial application of IFRS 17. The amendment is intended to avoid 

temporary accounting mismatches between financial assets and insurance contract liabilities, 

and thus improve the usefulness of comparative information for financial statement readers. The 

amendments will apply from January 1, 2023, together with the application of IFRS 17. The 

Directors do not expect this amendment to have a significant impact on the Group consolidated 

financial statements.  

 

IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE 

EUROPEAN UNION 

 

▪ On January 30, 2014 the IASB published IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts which permits only 

those adopting IFRS for the first time to continue to recognise amounts concerning Rate 

Regulation Activities according to the previous accounting standards adopted. Although the 

Group is a first-time adopter, the Directors do not expect this amendment to have a significant 

impact on the Group consolidated financial statements as this standard is not applicable. 

 

▪ On 23 January 2020, the IASB published an amendment entitled “Amendments to IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”. The 

purpose of the document is to clarify how to classify payables and other short or long-term 

liabilities. These amendments shall enter into force on January 1, 2023 and early application is 

permitted. The Directors do not expect this amendment to have a significant impact on the 

Group consolidated financial statements.  

 

 

Basis of accounting 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, 

as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 

consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 

directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 

asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 

participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 

measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 

are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16, and measurements 

that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value 

in use in IAS 36. 

 

Going concern 

 

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the 

Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 

financial statements. 



 

 

 

 

Significant accounting policies 

 

The accounting policies relevant to the Group are set out below: 

 

Basis of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries as at 31 

December 2021, 2020, 2019 and the results of the entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) for 

the years then ended.  

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 

• has power over the investee; 

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has 

power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to 

give it power, including: 

• the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 

of the other vote holders; 

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, 

the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 

including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.  

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 

when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or 

disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company gains control until 

the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.  

 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 

accounting policies used into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 

 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those 

interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 

choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests 

are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling 

interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of 

subsequent changes in equity. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is 

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in 

ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 

difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling 

interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 

  

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including 

goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation 

differences recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration 



 

 

 

received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 

 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and 

expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences 

arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a foreign exchange 

translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 

 

The exchange rates used to translate into euros the financial statements of the consolidated companies 

are listed hereunder. 

 

Currency 

Exchange 

rate as of 

December 

31, 2021 

Average 

2021 

exchange 

rate 

Exchange 

rate as of 

December 

31, 2020 

Average 

2020 

exchange 

rate 

Exchange 

rate as of 

December 

31, 2019 

Average 

2019 

exchange 

rate 

US Dollar 1.1326 1.1827 1.2271 1.1422 1.1234 1.1195 

Chinese 

Renminbi 
7.1947 7.6282 8.0225 7.8747 7.8205 7.7355 

Russian Ruble 85.3004 87.1527 91.4671 82.7248 69.9563 72.4553 

 

Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 

and from the translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Interests in associates  

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary 

nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

 

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is recognised initially in the consolidated 

statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group's share of losses of an 

associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in 

substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising 

its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 

legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 

loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount 

of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset 

by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its 

carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that 

forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in 

accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 

increases. 

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be 

an associate. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a 

financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is 

regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of 

any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in 

the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same 

basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would 

be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the 

gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the associate is disposed 

of. 



 

 

 

 

When the investment on an associate is reduced, but the investment continues to be classified either as 

an associate or a joint venture respectively, the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 

recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest shall be 

reclassified to profit or loss, if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the 

disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

 

The Group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an associate to 

which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net investment in the investee. 

Furthermore, in applying IFRS 9 to long-term interests, the Group does not take into account adjustments 

to their carrying amount required by IAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests 

arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or assessment of impairment in accordance with IAS 

28). 

 

Scope of consolidation 

 

EuroGroup Laminations S.p.A. is the parent company of the Group and it holds, directly or indirectly, 

interests in the Group’s subsidiaries. The Group’s scope of consolidation for years ended December 31, 

2021, 2020 and 2019 is described in note 4. 

 

Intangible assets 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are 

not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets 

are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised 

in profit or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference 

between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful 

lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of 

consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or 

period. 

 

Research and development 

 

Research and development costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.  

  

Software 

 

Software acquired as part of recurring operations and software developed in-house by the Group which 

meet all the relevant criteria are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. 

 

Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis at the following rates: 

 

Description Annual amortization rate 

Software Useful life (not exceeding 5 years) 

Other intangible assets Useful life 

 

Intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from 

use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in 

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

 

Property, plant and equipment  

 

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost, which comprises the purchase price, any 

costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary to be capable 

of operating in the manner intended by management, capitalised borrowing costs and any initial 

estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.  

 

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services for rental to others, or for 

administrative purposes, are stated in the statement of financial position at cost less any accumulated 



 

 

 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment loss. Freehold land is not depreciated. 

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than freehold land and properties 

under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 

following bases: 

 

Description Annual amortization rate 

Land and buildings 1.5% - 3% 

Plant and machinery 5% - 17.5% 

Commercial and industrial equipment 5% - 25% 

Other tangible assets 5% - 25% 

 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 

life of the assets, whichever is shorter. 

  

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 

economic benefit to the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the 

disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed 

of is transferred directly to retained profits. 

 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use and intangible assets with a finite useful live 

 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, 

right-of-use and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss.  

Factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review of property, plant and equipment, 

right-of-use and intangible assets include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• significant underperformance relative to the historical or projected future operating results; 

• significant changes in the manner of the use of the acquired assets or the strategy of the overall 

business; and 

• significant negative industry or economic trends. 

 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of 

the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from 

other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 

also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 

of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and to the 

extent that the impairment loss is greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss 

is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 

loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which 

has been recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount is treated as a 

revaluation increase. 

 

Leases 

 



 

 

 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. 

 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 

arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term 

of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items 

of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an 

operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is 

more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are 

consumed. 

 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 

payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial 

direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses.  

 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-

use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 

that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over 

the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial 

position. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate depends on 

the term, currency and start date of the lease and is determined based on a series of inputs including: 

the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; a country-specific risk adjustment; a credit risk 

adjustment based on bond yields; and an entity-specific adjustment when the risk profile of the entity 

that enters into the lease is different to that of the Group and the lease does not benefit from a guarantee 

from the Group. 

 

Lease payments comprise of (1) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, (2) variable lease 

payments that depend on an index or a rate, (3) amounts expected to be paid under residual value 

guarantees, (4) exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain 

to occur, and (5) any anticipated termination penalties.  

 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts 

are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an 

index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination 

penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use 

asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 

 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

Business combinations  

 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 

in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-

date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners 

of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. The 

following items constitute an exception, which are instead valued according to their reference principle: 

(i) deferred tax assets and liabilities, (ii) assets and liabilities for employee benefits and (iii) assets held for 

sale. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. If a business combination is 

achieved without the transfer of consideration, goodwill is determined by using the acquisition-date fair 

value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree rather than the acquisition-date fair value of the 

consideration transferred. 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 

the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 



 

 

 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in 

the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent 

consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value 

and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of 

the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 

retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 

adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the 'measurement period' (which 

cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the 

acquisition date. 

 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not 

qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. 

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and 

its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured 

to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests (including joint 

operations) in the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain 

or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 

acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 

to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 

which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 

accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see 

above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts 

and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 

amounts recognised as of that date. 

 

Financial assets 

 

Financial assets are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration paid. After the initial 

recording, the financial assets are measured in relation to their use. 

The classification of financial assets depends on the business model within which the financial instruments 

are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics, relevant to determining whether they are to be 

measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

In particular, the Group measures its financial assets at amortised cost if, and only if, both the following 

conditions have been met: 

o the asset is held within a business model whose objective is the collection of the contractual cash 

flows; and 

o the contractual conditions give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest. 

 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved through the 

collection of the contractual cash flows and the sale of the financial assets; and 

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specific dates, to cash flows representing 

solely payments of principal and interest. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income mainly include equity investments 

which the consolidated entity intends to hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to 

classify them as such upon initial recognition. 

 

On a residual basis, all other financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

 

Financial assets in currencies other than the functional currency are accounted for in Euro at the spot 

exchange rate on the transaction date and subsequently translated at the reporting date exchange 

rate with unrealised exchange differences recorded in profit or loss. 

 

Inventories  

 



 

 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, 

where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost 

method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion 

and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 

 

Trade receivables 

 

Short-term trade receivables without a predetermined interest rate are measured at cost or the fair value 

of the initial consideration. The Group holds trade receivables with the aim of collecting the contractual 

cash flows and thus subsequently measures them at amortised cost according to the effective interest 

method, which usually coincides with their original value, where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

Where the time value of money effect is material, receivables are measured at amortised cost. 

 

Receivables sold to factoring companies in non-recourse transactions, which provide for the 

unconditional transfer to the factor of all risks and rewards of the receivables factored, are eliminated 

from the financial statements. 

In factoring transactions where risks and rewards are not transferred, the related receivables are kept in 

the statement of financial position until they are paid by the assigned debtor. In this case any advances 

collected from the factor are recognised as financial liability. 

 

The Group measures the doubtful debt provision at an amount reflecting the expected losses over the 

entire life of the receivable. Expected losses on trade receivables are estimated according to a 

provisioning matrix by default bracket, based on the Group’s past experience with losses on receivables 

and an analysis of debtors’ financial position, adjusted to reflect factors specific to each debtor (e.g., 

where subject to insolvency procedures) at the reporting date. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Depending on their nature, other cash equivalents are recorded at nominal value or at amortised cost. 

Other equivalent available funds represent short-term, high-liquidity funds that are quickly convertible 

into certain cash values, subject to negligible risk of change in value, and whose original maturity at the 

time of acquisition does not exceed 3 months. 

 

Financial liabilities and equity 

 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 

instrument. 

 

Equity instruments 

 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. 

Equity instruments issued by the Group (such as ordinary shares) are recognised at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised 

and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue 

or cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities include financial payables, borrowings, lease liabilities and they also include trade and 

other payables. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are recognised using the amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation underlying the liability is 

extinguished, canceled or fulfilled. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same 

lender, with different conditions, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially changed, such 

exchange or modification is treated as a write-off of the original liability, with recognition of a new liability 

and any differences between the book values in the profit / (loss) for the year. In case of modified 

financial liability does not qualify as an "extinguishment of the original financial liability", the difference 

between i) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification and ii) the present value of the 

modified liability's cash flows, discounted using the original internal rate (IRR), is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expired. The 



 

 

 

difference between the consideration paid to derecognise the financial liability and its carrying amount 

is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Trade and other payables 

 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at cost, which is the fair value of the amount paid less 

transaction costs. Subsequently, payables that have a fixed maturity are measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest method, while payables without a fixed maturity are measured at cost. The 

current payables, on which no interest is applicable, are measured at nominal value. The fair value of 

long-term payables is determined by discounting future cash flows: the discount is recorded as a financial 

charge over the duration of the payable to maturity. 

 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions 

 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The accounting for subsequent 

changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 

so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

 

Contractual arrangements that contain an obligation to purchase non-controlling interests (such as a 

puttable instrument granted to non-controlling interests) are treated as derivatives over own equity in the 

consolidated financial statements and consequently give rise to a financial liability measured at the 

present value of the redemption amount. Subsequently, the financial liability is measured at amortised 

cost with any change in the liability recognised in profit or loss. When an arrangement provides the 

Company with a present ownership interest in the shares, the instruments is entirely recognised as a 

financial liability and no non-controlling interests is recognised. Under this approach, any dividends paid 

to the other shareholders are recognised as an expense in the consolidated financial statements, except 

where they represent a repayment of the liability. 

 

Cash flow hedges 

 

Cash flow hedges are used to cover the consolidated entity's exposure to variability in cash flows that is 

attributable to particular risks associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which 

could affect profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised 

in other comprehensive income through the cash flow hedges reserve in equity, whilst the ineffective 

portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity are transferred out of equity and included 

in the measurement of the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs. 

  

Cash flow hedges are tested for effectiveness on a regular basis both retrospectively and prospectively 

to ensure that each hedge is highly effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge. If 

the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the amounts recognised in equity are transferred 

to profit or loss. 

  

If the hedging instrument is sold, terminated, expires, exercised without replacement or rollover, or if the 

hedge becomes ineffective and is no longer a designated hedge, the amounts previously recognised in 

equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments quoted in an active market is based on market prices at the 

balance sheet date (Level 1). The fair value of instruments not listed on an active market is determined 

using specific valuation techniques as described further in these notes (Level 2: defined as inputs other 

than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable such as quoted 

prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 

markets that are not active; Level 3: defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data 

exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions, such as valuations derived from 

valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are 

unobservable). 

In some circumstances, the inputs used to measure fair value might be categorized within different levels 

of the fair value hierarchy. In those instances, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in 

the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

 

Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation 



 

 

 

as a result of a past event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 

provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting 

date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of 

money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 

increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost 

 

Employee benefits 

 

Defined benefit plans 

 

The Group’s net obligations are determined separately for each plan by estimating the present value of 

future benefits that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, and deducting the fair value 

of any plan assets.  

The present value of defined benefit obligations is measured using actuarial techniques and benefits are 

attributable to periods in which the obligation to provide post-employment benefits arise by using the 

Projected Unit Credit Method. Actuarial assumptions are based on management’s best estimates. The 

components of defined benefit cost are recognised as follows: 

 

• the service costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the personnel 

cost line item; 

• the net interest expense on the defined benefit liability is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of profit and loss within financial expenses; 

• the remeasurement components of the net obligation, which comprise actuarial gain and losses, 

are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. These remeasurement 

components are not reclassified in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in a subsequent 

period. 

 

Post-employment benefits include the Italian employee severance indemnity (“trattamento di fine 

rapporto” or “TFR”) obligation required under Italian Law. The amount of TFR to which each employee is 

entitled must be paid when the employee leaves the Group and is calculated based on the period of 

employment and the taxable earnings of each employee. Under certain conditions, the entitlement may 

be partially advanced to an employee during their working life. 

 

The TFR scheme is classified as a defined contribution plan and the Group recognizes the associated 

costs over the period in which the employee renders service. 

 

Share-based payments 

 

Share-based payments transactions with employees and others providing similar services are measured 

at the fair value of the equity instruments. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting 

conditions.  

 

The Group classifies share-based payment transactions when the employees are granted equity 

instruments of the parent company of the Group as a cash-settled instruments since the underlying 

transaction is not settled by delivering own equity instruments. For cash-settled share-based payments, a 

liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. 

At each reporting date until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the 

liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value charged to the statement of profit and loss.  

 

Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue mainly comprises sales of goods. 

 

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to a customer. Revenue is measured 

at the transaction price which is based on the amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive 

in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer and excludes any sales 

incentives, rebates or discounts.  

 

Under the Group’s commercial policy, customers on case by case basis and up to 36 months are entitled 

to a right of returns, which enables them to receive a full or partial cash refund of the amount paid or 

another product in exchange. 

 



 

 

 

Revenues from the sale of rotor, stator, spare parts and tooling are recognised at a point in time when 

control over a product is transferred to the customers. Typically, it occurs upon delivery of the goods 

based on the standard incoterms included in the contracts. 

 

Government grants  

 

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 

with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.  

 

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 

Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 

Specifically, government that relates to an investment, the investment and the grant are recognised at 

their nominal values and transferred to profit or loss progressively on a systematic basis over the useful life 

of the related investment, decreasing the initial deferred income.  

 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 

the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 

 

Costs  

 

Costs are recognised net of returns and discounts in accordance with the accrual principle. 

The costs for purchases of raw materials are recorded when all risks and benefits have been transferred, 

which normally coincides with the shipment of the goods. Costs for services are recorded on an accrual 

basis, based on the time of receipt of the services. 

 

Income from recycling scrap metal is deducted from the cost of materials. 

 

Financial income and costs  

 

Financial income and costs are recognised on an accrual basis and include: interest earned on related 

financial assets and liabilities using the effective interest rate method, changes in fair value of derivatives 

and other financial instruments recognised at fair value through profit or loss, foreign exchange and 

financial instrument gains and losses (including derivatives). 

 

Dividends 

 

Dividends received from companies other than subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recorded 

in the consolidated income statement on an accrual basis, i.e. in the year in which the related right arises, 

following the shareholders' motion to distribute dividends to the investee companies.  

Dividends distributable to third parties, that are associated to equity holders, are debited directly to 

equity as changes in shareholders’ equity in the year in which they are approved by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting. Dividends distributable to third parties, that are relating to a financial instrument or a 

component that is a financial liability are recognised as expense in profit or loss. 

 

Taxation 

 

Income taxes include all the taxes calculated on the assessable income of the companies of the Group. 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 

tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

 

Current tax 

 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 

reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 



 

 

 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 

generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax 

liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Earnings per share 

  

Basic earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 

issued during the financial year. 

  

Diluted earnings per share 

 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 

take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 

dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 

issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in the paragraph “Significant 

accounting policies”, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those involving 

estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods. 

 

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented 

separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 

policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements. 

 

Control over SAF S.p.A. 

 

Note 4.3.2 describes that S.A.F. S.p.A. (“SAF”), since June 30, 2021, is a subsidiary of the Group even 

though the Group has only a 50% ownership interest and of the voting rights in SAF.  

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has control over SAF based on whether 

the Group has the ability to direct the relevant activities of SAF unilaterally. In making their judgement, 

the directors considered based on the shareholder agreement between the Group and the other 

shareholder signed on May 2021, conveys to the Group, for a period of five years until its expiration, the 

right to appoint the majority of the members who sits in the board of directors and assigning to them the 



 

 

 

power for the definition of strategies, budget and plans of the company as well as suitable abilities for 

their realization. After the assessment, the directors concluded that, according to IFRS 10, the Group has 

a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of SAF and, therefore, the Group 

has control over SAF.  

 

If the directors had reached a different conclusion and that the rights conveyed by the shareholder 

agreement was not sufficient to direct the relevant activities, SAF would instead have been classified as 

an associate and the Group would have accounted for it using the equity method. 

 

Consolidation of SPVs for New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) 

 

During 2017, the Group, through its US based subsidiaries Eurotranciatura USA (“ET USA”) and 

Eurotranciatura Leverage Lender (ELL), entered into a New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) program with 

U.S. Bancorp Community Development Corporation (“USBCDC”) as a Tax Credit Investor (“Investor”) and 

AMCREF Fund 35, LLC as a Community Development Entity (“sub-CDE”).  

The structure of the transaction includes the following: 

1. ELL loaned €7,831 thousand ($9,392 thousand) (the “Leveraged Loan”) to Twain Investment Fund 

188, LLC (the “Investment Fund”), whose sole member is U.S. Bancorp Community Development 

Corporation (“USBCDC”), the investor seeking the NMTCs.  

2. USBCDC simultaneously contributed capital of approximately € 3,635 thousand ($4,360 

thousand) to the Investment Fund in exchange for a 100% equity interest in the Investment Fund.   

3. The Investment Fund used the aggregate proceeds from USBCDC and the Leveraged Loan to 

make a capital contribution to the sub-CDE of €10,838 thousand ($13,000 thousand), which is 

expected to constitute a Qualified Equity Investments (“QEI”) eligible for both federal and state 

NMTCs. 

4. In exchange for the QEI from the Investment Fund, the sub-CDE’s operating agreement was 

simultaneously amended and restated to admit the Investment Fund as a member with a 99.99% 

equity interest. The remaining 0.01% interest in the sub-CDE is held by AMCREF Community 

Capital, LLC, which also serves as the managing member of the sub-CDE (“Managing Member”). 

5. The sub-CDE entered into agreements to make certain loans to ET USA in the total amount of 

approximately €10,838 thousand ($13,000 thousand) (the “Project Loans”) to finance the 

expansion and equipping of ET USA operations. Such investment is required in order to utilize 

substantially all of the proceeds of the Fund’s QEI in the form of the Project Loans which constitute 

a Qualified Low Income Community Investments (“QLICI”). 

The NMTC Program allows taxpayers to claim a credit against federal income taxes for QEIs in designated 

Community Development Entities. As a result of the NMTC program, in February 2017, the ET USA entered 

into two new QLICI loan agreements QLICI A and QLICI B with the CDE for €7,831 thousand ($9,392 

thousand) and €3,008 thousand ($3,608 thousand) both with maturity on February 2024. The credit 

facilities are subject to a fix interest rate of 1% plus administrative fees. The notes are held to maturity. The 

NMTC financing operation is based on the expectation that the Investor will receive an anticipated return 

on investment from tax credits and other tax attributes in lieu of repayment of the loan principal tied to 

its investment. ET USA is receiving the tax credit equity through the QLICI B Loan and will only make 

payments of interest for a seven-year period. To ensure that ET USA does not repay the loan principal 

connected to the tax credit equity (QLICI B), ET USA has to follow all the compliance rules and the project 

has to deliver the community impact defined by the program. The mechanism to ensure that ET USA does 

not repay the loan principal connected to the tax credit equity is the Investment Fund Put and Call 

Agreement (“Option Agreement”). The Option Agreement gives the Investor the right to sell to the Group, 

through the subsidiary ELL, the Investment Fund entity for the fixed amount of $ 1 thousand (“Put Option”). 

In the unlikely event that Investor fails to exercise its Put Option, ELL will have the right to force the Investor 

to sell the Investment Fund entity for its fair market value (“FMV Call Price”). The FMV Call Price would be 

based on the future stream of cash flows at the Investment Fund entity. Upon acquiring the Investment 

Fund, Eurotranciatura Leverage Lender would likely be determined to be related to the debtor. As a 

result, the acquisition of the Investment Fund by Eurotranciatura Leverage Lender is treated as the 

acquisition of indebtedness by the debtor under IRC section 108(e)(4). Thus, ET USA will be deemed both 

the obligor and obligee of all NMTC Loans, dissolving any obligation to or from the Investment Fund or 

the CDE.  

The directors have assessed whether the exercise of the option, which is regarded reasonably certain, 

give the Group the control over the SPVs and thus would require to be consolidated. In carrying-out the 

analysis, the directors have considered the following factors: 

a) power over the SPVs 

b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the SPVs 

c) the ability to use its power over the SPVs to affect the amount of the Group’s returns 

 



 

 

 

Because the sub-CDE (as well as the Investment Fund) are structured entities whether voting rights are or 

are not the dominant factor, the Group focused on the ‘other rights’ to determine whether the Group 

has power over the SPVs. Specifically, on a comparative basis, the Group considered the decisions made 

during the design of the entity, the participation of each entity in the design, and the relative economic 

interest and power of each entity. Although the legal structure of the ownership interest in the SPVs the 

Group, in effect, has exposure to 100% of the variable returns associated with the Investment Fund as a 

result of exercising its power over the Investment Fund during the design stage. Therefore, given that (1) 

the ongoing activities of the Investment Fund are not expected to significantly affect the Investment 

Fund’s economic performance and (2) the Group’s ability to use its power during the design of the 

Investment Fund to affect its exposure to the variable returns associated with the Investment Fund 

through making significant decisions, the directors of the Group believe it is appropriate to conclude that 

it controls the Investment Fund, and therefore, should consolidate the SPVs. Such conclusion also affects 

the accounting treatment of the Put Option, because it would represent a contractual obligation to 

deliver cash to USBCDC in the form of a puttable share that does not meet each of the exception criteria 

in paragraph 32.16A. Specifically, this liability also includes the obligation associated with the guaranty 

as a recapture event would require the Group to return the entire €3,008 thousand ($3,608) thousand 

(plus a targeted internal rate of return). Therefore, in totality, the Group does not believe such a liability 

would meet the equity scope exception criteria above as USBCDC would be entitled to a guaranteed 

amount (as opposed to a pro-rata/residual amount) upon the occurrence of a recapture event.  

 

If the director had concluded that the Group had not control over the SPVs, the Investment Fund and 

the sub-CDE would not have been consolidated and consequently the investment made through the 

ELL, for €7,831thousand ($9,392 thousand) would have been presented as a financial asset as well as the 

Leverage Loan, for €11 million ($13 million), received by ET USA would have been presented as a financial 

liability. 

 

Accounting for non-controlling Interests where the Group has a present ownership interest 

 

Note (4) describes that the Group entered into several investment agreements with an investor (SIMEST 

S.p.A. a financial institution controlled by the Italian Government that financially supports Italian foreign 

investments), according to which at the expiration of the agreement the Company has an obligation to 

buy back the shares held by the investor for a predetermined redemption amount. The arrangements 

entitle the investor to receive a fixed remuneration during the terms of the agreement, based on the 

investment made in the investee and any dividends distributed are returned to the investee.  

The directors of the Group assessed as to whether the terms of the arrangement give the Company a 

present access to the returns associated with the ownership interest in the shares subject to the NCI. 

Factors that have been taken into account that provides a present ownership interest include the pricing 

of the redemption amount, voting rights and decision-making connected to these shares concerned 

that are substantially restricted and dividends right.  

After the assessment, the directors have concluded that the Group has a present ownership interest in 

these shares and consequently the shares are accounted for as if they had been acquired by the Group. 

These conclusions affect also any indirectly interest held by the Group through the subsidiary. 

 

If the directors had concluded that the Group does not have a present ownership interest, NCI would 

have been continued to be presented within equity.  

 

 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

Impairment of trade receivables 

 

The Group applies the simplified approach in the measurement of the expected credit losses (ECL) for 

trade receivables. The ECL considers the historical experience of credit losses, adjusted to take specific 

factors of creditors and the economic environment and is based on the days past due for each class of 

customers grouped into the various clusters that present similar historical loss trends. The matrix is initially 

based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the 

historical data on credit losses with forecast elements. The assessment of the correlation between 

historical default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of 

ECL is sensitive to changes in circumstances and expected economic conditions. Even the historical 

experience on the trend of the Group's credit losses and the forecast of future economic conditions may 

not be representative of the customer's actual insolvency in the future. 

 

Leases 



 

 

 

 

Lease agreements may include extension and termination options. In assessing whether or not the 

exercise of the option to renew the termination of a lease is potentially certain, all the relevant factors 

that create an economic incentive for the exercise of the option to renew or terminate are considered. 

After the commencement date, the lease term is reviewed if an event or significant change occurs that 

affects the ability to exercise the option or not to renew or terminate the lease. The implicit interest rate 

of a lease is not easily determined. Therefore, the incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) is used to establish 

the present value of the rental cost. The latter corresponds to the interest rate that one would pay to 

finance, with a similar duration and guarantee. 

 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

 

The Group, in calculating the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, defined the useful life on 

the basis of a physical obsolescence estimate of the machineries. The useful lives could change 

significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation 

charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete 

or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 

 

Impairment testing on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with a 

finite useful life 

 

The Group assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 

assets with a finite useful life at least at each reporting date, or when there are indicators that the 

current carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater than its recoverable amount. 

 

The complexity of the estimation process and issues related to the elaboration of assumptions, risks and 

uncertainties in the application of Group’s accounting estimates in relation to the impairment of 

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use and intangible assets affect the amounts reported in the 

financial statements. These estimates are characterized by long term uncertainties. 

So, if one or more of these estimates materially change, it is likely that materially different amounts 

could be reported in the Group’s financial statements. In particular, directors use budgets and 

forecasts included in the most recent business plans in order to determine the expected future cash 

flows from the continuing use of the non-financial assets. Budgets comprise forecasts of revenue, staff 

costs and overheads based on current and anticipated market conditions that have been considered 

and approved by the Board. In this regard, the Group uses various assumptions, including the estimate 

of future increases in sales, operating costs, the growth rate of terminal values, investments, changes in 

working capital and the weighted average cost of capital as discount rate.  

 

The sensitivity analysis in respect of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets is presented in note 

3. 

 

Share purchase plan with related parties 

 

Note (27) describe that the Group, through its subsidiary Eurotranciatura, which has a minority interest in 

E.M.S. S.p.A. (parent company of EuroGroup Laminations), in December 2017, entered into an 

arrangement with four employees with strategic responsibilities for the sale of such minority interest. The 

arrangement provides an obligation for the employees to purchase the share in yearly instalments over 

a ten-year period. The effectiveness of the annual purchase of the shares (vested shares) is subject to 

the permanence of the employees within the Group during the ten years period (vesting period). The 

arrangements also provide that the employee is entitled to receive dividends that eventually will be 

distributed over the vesting period even for the shares that are retained by the Group (unvested shares). 

If the employee leaves the Group’s employment during the service period (bad leaver), the vested 

shares may be returned to Group, upon its discretion, at the same purchase price. Because the 

arrangement provides for an obligation for the Group to deliver shares of the parent company that in 

the consolidated financial statements of the Group are not considered as own equity instruments 

(treasury shares), the transaction has been classified as a cash-settled share-based payment 

arrangement. 

 

For this purpose, the Group measures the cost of cash-settled transactions with employees based on the 

fair value of the equity instruments granted at each reporting period. The fair value is determined by 

using a valuation technique that requires inputs to estimate the fair value of unquoted instruments. The 

accounting estimates and assumptions relating to cash-settled share-based payments may have an 

impact on the carrying amount of the liability as well as on profit or loss. 



 

 

 

 

Fair value measurements 

 

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In 

estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it 

is available (Level 1).  

Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the 

valuation. Valuation techniques may use: 

o Level 2 inputs, which include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted 

prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted 

prices that are observable for the asset or liability (for example interest rates, spreads, etc.), inputs 

corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 

o Level 3 inputs, which consist of unobservable inputs, for which market data are unavailable and that 

reflect the assumptions that market participants would use when determining an appropriate price 

for the asset or liability. 

 
 

Segment information 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors.  

The Group has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of 

Directors, which is considered the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) as defined under IFRS 8—

Operating Segments (“IFRS 8”), for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing the performance 

of the Group. The Group is organized in two operating and reportable segments, based on a brand 

perspective, as described below: 

1. EV & Automotive: EV & Automotive is a Business Unit introduced in recent years, operates mainly in 

the electric automotive sector and also in general utilities regarding automotive. 

2. Industrial: Industrial is the historical Business Unit of the Group and produces components mainly for 

the following product lines: home, logistic, energy, pumps, HVAC, tools and diversified industrial. 

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) is the key profit measure used 

by the CODM to assess performance and allocate resources to the Group’s operating segments, as well 

as to analyze operating trends, perform analytical comparisons and benchmark performance between 

periods and among the segments. EBITDA is defined as profit or loss before income taxes, financial 

income, financial expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses. 

There are no transactions between segments. No allocations of common costs are made across the 

segments.   

The following is an analysis of the Group’s performance indicators by reportable segment in 2021, 2020 

and 2019: 

(in thousands of €) 
EV & Automotive Industrial Consolidated 

2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 

Revenues 195,596  147,580  112,204  361,308  225,710  239,870  556,904 373,290 352,074 

EBITDA 20,610  7,538  9,804  39,159  10,834  16,389  59,769  18,372  26,193  

Items in reconciliation:          

Depreciation and 

amortization expenses 
      (23,269) (18,313) (17,566) 

Financial income       849 1,436 709 

Financial costs       (7,676) (6,257) (5,342) 

Profit / (Loss) before tax       29,673 (4,762) 3,994 

Income tax       (8,982) 7,084 26 

Profit for the year       20,691 2,322 4,020 

 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 

CODM monitors the total assets of each segment. All assets are allocated to reportable segments with 

the exception of investments in associates, non-current financial assets, deferred tax assets and other 

non-current assets. 



 

 

 

(in thousands of €) 
Segment assets 

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

EV & Automotive            88,790              97,404             42,067  

Industrial          121,150  63,785            72,270  

Total segment assets          209,940            161,189           114,337  

Unallocated assets:    

Deferred tax assets 23,025  22,410  10,252  

Non-current financial assets 17,797  12,883  9,901  

Investments in associates -   12,015  11,305  

Other non-current assets 1,907  890  1,631 

Consolidated non-current assets 252,669  209,387  147,426  

 

Geographical information 

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current 

assets excluding non-current financial assets, deferred tax assets, other non-current assets and 

investments in associates) by geographical location are detailed below: 

(in thousands of €) 
December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

EMEA 322,340 218,549 211,365 

- of which in Italy 303,000  209,807  200,796  

NORTH AMERICA 206,866 143,918 140,236 

- of which in Mexico 140,669 100,743 85,544 

- of which in United States 66,197 43,175 54,692 

ASIA 27,698 10,823 473 

- of which in China 27,698 10,823 473 

Revenues by geographical 

area 
556,904 373,290 352,074 

    

EMEA 119,707 88,545 63,132 

- of which in Italy 111,272 83,091 58,189 

NORTH AMERICA 63,662 51,509 51,205 

- of which in Mexico 40,477 33,765 32,551 

- of which in United States 23,185 17,744 18,654 

ASIA 26,571 21,135 - 

- of which in China 26,571 21,135 - 

Segment assets 209,940 161,189 114,337 

 

Information about major customers 

Included in revenues arising from EV & Automotive are revenues of €84,977 thousand (in 2020 for €70,912 

thousand and in 2019 for €54,828thousand) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer.  

No other single customers contributed 10 per cent or more to the Group's revenue in either 2021 or 2020 

or 2019. 

 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 

In February 2022 the Russian-Ukrainian military conflict heightened following the invasion by the Russian 

army into Ukraine sovereign territory. The state of political and military tension generated, and the 

consequent economic sanctions adopted by the international community against Russia have had 

significant effects and created turbulence on the global markets, on both the financial front and in terms 

of prices and the export of raw materials, considering the significant role that Russia and Ukraine play in 

the international economic environment. 

The production activities of the subsidiary Euro Group Russia Laminations, whose revenues represented 

the 1.4%, 1.3% and 0.3% of the total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 

respectively, were suspended at the end of 2021 as the main customer requested not to supply products 

in the first half of 2022. In order to allow a rapid resumption of activities, in the first months of the 2022, the 

Group has continued to financially support its subsidiary by paying the salaries of trained technical staff 

and the minimum amount of fixed costs necessary to keep the operating unit active (rents, utilities and 

small maintenance). These costs are currently paid either by using cash deposited at the local bank, 

amounting to €573 thousand or through the proceeds of the accounts receivable. As the conflict is 

continuing along with the uncertainty connected with its conclusion, the Group has reconsidered the 

possibility of maintaining its presence in the Russian territories and interrupt any future development with 

an impact on the recoverability of the Russian subsidiary’s assets. In this regard, in the Consolidated 



 

 

 

Financial Statements, the total assets of the Russian subsidiary amounts to €4,350 thousand (of which 

Property, plant and equipment for €2,506 thousand, inventories for €517 thousand, accounts receivable 

for €470 thousand, other receivables €230 thousand and cash and cash equivalents for €573 thousand), 

total liabilities of €4,081 thousand (of which accounts payable for €800 thousand, tax liabilities for €40 

thousand, other liabilities for €24 thousand and payables to Group companies for €3,200 thousand). 

On 11 March 2022, Euro Group Asia Limited established the new company Euro Misi High-Tech, Jiaxing 

Ltd. The consideration transferred for the incorporation of the company amounted to €22,748 thousand. 

 

In addition, the Group, in accordance with contractual terms, in the month of June 2022 has started the 

negotiation for the purchase of the interest held by SIMEST in Eurotranciatura Mexico S.A. De C.V..  

 

 

***** 



 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 

(1) INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

The following table provides a breakdown for intangible assets:  

 

(in thousands of €) 

Industrial patents 

and similar 

intellectual property 

rights 

Other 

intangible 

assets 

Intangible 

assets under 

construction 

Total 

Historical cost as of January 1, 

2019 
351 64 890 1,305 

Additions 587 1 1 589 

Reclassifications 41 - (41) - 

Exchange difference and 

other changes 
- - 23 23 

Balance as of December 31, 

2019 
979 65 873 1,917 

Additions 531 - 12 543 

Disposals - - (1) (1) 

Exchange difference and 

other changes 
33 - (165) (132) 

Business combination 598 - - 598 

Balance as of December 31, 

2020 
2,141 65 719 2,925 

Additions 319 - - 319 

Exchange difference and 

other changes 
108 - 84 192 

Business combination 4 211 - 215 

Balance as of December 31, 

2021 
2,572 276 803 3,651 

     
Accumulated depreciation as 

of January 1, 2019 
- - - - 

Depreciation (355) (64) - (419) 

Balance as of December 31, 

2019 
(355) (64) - (419) 

Depreciation (363) (1) - (364) 

Balance as of December 31, 

2020 
(718) (65) - (783) 

Depreciation (428) - - (428) 

Balance as of December 31, 

2021 
(1,146) (65) - (1,211) 

     
Carrying amount at:     

January 1, 2019 351 64 890 1,305 

December 31, 2019 624 1 873 1,498 

December 31, 2020 1,423 - 719 2,142 

December 31, 2021 1,426 211 803 2,440 

The item “Industrial patents and similar intellectual property rights” includes only the costs for the licensing 

of software programs used by the Group companies. 

These intangible assets were included in the impairment test as described in Note 2, as they were 

allocated to the CGUs identified by the Management. 

  



 

 

 

(2) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The following table provides a breakdown for property, plant and equipment: 

(in thousands of €) 
Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

machinery 

Commercial 

and industrial 

equipment 

Other 

tangible 

assets 

Tangible 

assets under 

construction 

Total 

Historical cost as of 

January 1, 2019 
19,622 150,847 53,233 13,708 8,496 245,906 

Additions 1,982 11,542 2,061 1,054 6,028 22,667 

Disposals - (1,439) (543) (66) (40) (2,088) 

Reclassifications - 7,660 763 - (8,423) - 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
1,087 1,020 60 (94) (1,086) 987 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2019 
22,691 169,630 55,574 14,602 4,975 267,472 

Additions 155 15,340 3,441 895 4,945 24,776 

Disposals (394) (1,353) (24) (166) (48) (1,985) 

Reclassifications 42 1,650 12 15 (1,719) - 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
(1,154) (3,258) (1,834) 181 (250) (6,315) 

Business combination 339 9,407 1,806 262 9,053 20,867 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2020 
21,679 191,416 58,975 15,789 16,956 304,815 

Additions 187 19,371 2,738 797 14,000 37,093 

Disposals - (974) (252) (73) - (1,299) 

Reclassifications 1 6,469 125 48 (6,643) - 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
1,070 7,789 2,451 238 921 12,469 

Business combination 72 27,183 3,943 1,483 315 32,996 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2021 
23,009 251,254 67,980 18,282 25,549 386,074 

       
Accumulated 

depreciation as of 

January 1, 2019 

(4,050) (104,196) (47,922) (8,932) - (165,100) 

Depreciation (1,133) (9,455) (2,031) (1,183) - (13,802) 

Disposals - 1,385 516 61 - 1,962 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
(906) (408) (329) 139 - (1,504) 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2019 
(6,089) (112,674) (49,766) (9,915) - (178,444) 

Depreciation (1,031) (8,504) (2,401) (1,474) - (13,410) 

Disposals - 1,305 2 116 - 1,423 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
283 1,088 1,702 30 - 3,103 

Business combination (58) (1,854) (420) (112) - (2,444) 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2020 
(6,895) (120,639) (50,883) (11,355) - (189,772) 

Depreciation (998) (10,859) (2,883) (1,674) - (16,414) 

Disposals - 680 173 71 - 924 

Exchange difference 

and other changes 
(379) (3,019) (377) (73) - (3,848) 

Business combination (55) (26,290) (3,917) (1,195) - (31,457) 

Balance as of 

December 31, 2021 
(8,327) (160,127) (57,887) (14,226) - (240,567) 

       
Carrying amount at:       

January 1, 2019 15,572 46,651 5,311 4,776 8,496 80,806 

December 31, 2019 16,602 56,956 5,808 4,687 4,975 89,028 

December 31, 2020 14,784 70,777 8,092 4,434 16,956 115,043 

December 31, 2021 14,682 91,127 10,093 4,056 25,549 145,507 

The caption “Land and buildings” includes general industrial plants and warehouses. The additions 

amounted to €187 thousand, €155 thousand and €1,982 thousand respectively in the years ended 

December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and are mainly related to building improvements on the group's 

buildings.  

“Plant and machinery” include presses and other industrial machinery used for the production process. 

The additions amounted to €19,371 thousand, €15,340 thousand and €11,542 thousand respectively in 



 

 

 

the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and are mainly related to the purchase of new 

presses. 

The category “Commercial and industrial equipment” includes moulds and other industrial and 

commercial equipment. The additions amounted €2,738 thousand, €3,441 thousand and €2,061 

thousand respectively in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and mainly refer to the 

purchase of new moulds. 

“Other tangible assets” includes furniture and furnishings for offices and warehouse, warehouse 

equipment, shelving, electronic office machines, vehicles and cars. The additions equal to €797 

thousand, €895 thousand and €1,054 thousand respectively in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 

and 2019 and refers mainly to the purchase of new electronic office machines in the amount of €285 

thousand in 2021, €345 thousand in 2020 and €305 thousand in 2019 and the purchase of new vehicles 

and cars in the amount of €209 thousand in 2021, €382 thousand in 2020 and €376 thousand in 2019. 

Tangible assets under construction are assets not yet available for their use. The additions amounted to 

€14,000 thousand, €4,945 thousand and €6,028 thousand respectively in the years ended December 31, 

2021, 2020 and 2019 and are mainly related to the construction of new production plants in Mexico and 

in USA in order to expand production.  

These property, plant and equipment were included in the impairment test as described below, as they 

were allocated to the CGUs identified by the Management. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful live  

As stated in the description of the reporting standards, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 

and right-of-use assets are tested annually, or more frequently if specific events or changed 

circumstances indicate the presence of an impairment loss, to identify any impairment losses in 

accordance with IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets. In particular, the Group identified the Covid-19 pandemic 

as a triggering event which could have led to the recognition of an impairment loss.  

The Group’s annual impairment test is performed by the comparison of the carrying amount with their 

recoverable amount. An impairment is recognised when the recoverable amount of a CGU is less than 

the carrying amount of the asset subject to impairment test.  

For impairment test purposes, the Group has identified CGUs on a geographic area basis and consistently 

with the way in which the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Makers review the performance and 

considering that each CGU shall not be greater than a reportable segment in accordance with IFRS 8. 

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by its value in use, derived from discounted cash 

flow calculations. For the determination of discounted cash flow, all legal entities produced a forecast 

for 2022 and the business plan for the years 2023-2026 which were reviewed and approved by the Board 

of Directors of the Company. These forecasts and business plans form the basis of the estimated future 

cash flow used in the Group’s impairment testing. 

 

Assumptions Approach used in determining values 

Weighted 

Average Cost 

of Capital 

The discount rates used by the Group to discount cash flows is the WACC (Weighted Average 

Cost of Capital), in its post-tax configuration. The latter is equal to the weighted average of the 

cost of equity, calculated on the basis of the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”) and the cost 

of debt capital. As required by IAS 36, the WACC was determined with reference to the 

operational risk of the sector and the financial structure of a sample of listed companies 

comparable by risk profile and sector of activity. The cost of capital was determined on the basis 

of the market yields of the last 5 years for medium / long-term (10-year) government bonds of the 

countries / markets in which the Group operates – and considering a market risk premium that 

reflects the investment risk. A Beta coefficient was applied based on the observation of a sample 

of comparable companies.  
Long-term 

growth rate 

The Group has determined a growth rate weighted on the sales of the countries in which the 

Group operates, to be used in the determination of cash flows beyond the explicit period (starting 

from 2026). This rate was estimated on a prudential basis, with respect to the weighted growth 

rate (long-term average inflation) on sales of the countries in which the Company operates. 

Terminal value The terminal value of each CGUs is determined by the Group using the perpetuity method at a 

long-term growth rate. These represent the present value, at the last year of projection, of all 

expected future cash flows. 



 

 

 

EBITDA  The EBITDA growth is largely driven by an increase in net sales due to an expansion in the Asia 

region, Strong growth in the North America as well as maintaining a solid leadership position in 

EMEA in all businesses. 

Tax rate Tax rate applied is an average of the tax rates of the countries in which the Group operates    

Based on the assumptions described, the impairment test shows a headroom for all CGUs as well as for 

the Group as a whole. As a result, the recoverable amounts of each CGU as of December 31, 2020 and 

as of December 31, 2021 was higher than their carrying amount. Consequently, no impairment losses 

have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

However, although the directors believe that the assumptions used are reasonable, there is the possibility 

that significant changes will occur in any of the key assumptions described above, in relation to the 

nature of the forecasts. Indeed, the calculation of value in use for all CGUs is most sensitive to the 

following assumptions: 

• Discount rates; 

• Long-term growth rates use to determine the cash flows beyond the forecast period; 

• EBITDA growth rate over the explicit period of the business plan, which has been taking into 

consideration the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the performance of the Group. 

To support their assessments and to ensure that the changes in the main assumptions did not significantly 

affect the result of the impairment tests, the Directors carried out a sensitivity analysis under the following 

assumptions taken individually: 

• Reduction of the growth rate of 1%; 

• Increase of the WACC discount rate of 1%;  

• Reduction of the EBITDA of 10%;  

The Directors consider these hypotheses as possible, and representative of the situations listed above.  

 

The following tables details the sensitivity of the 2021 and 2020 impairment testing to reasonably possible 

changes in assumptions previously detailed: 

 
December 31, 2021 Existing assumptions Sensitivity effect on headroom 

CGU Headroom 
Discount 

rate (in bps) 

Long-term 

growth rate 

(in bps) 

EBITDA 

growth rate 

Discount 

rate (in bps) 

Long-term 

growth rate 

(in bps) 

EBITDA 

growth rate 

EMEA 413,546 9.65% 2.41% 15.58% 517,374 537,264 399,843 

NORTH 

AMERICA 
315,259 12.14% 2.67% 24.03% 282,023 278,845 184,788 

ASIA 217,914 11.53% 2.00% 78.46% 52,012 194,705 149,232 

Group 1,076,936 10.19% 2.37% 24.0% 835,350 922,584 666,639 

 

December 31, 2020 Existing assumptions Sensitivity effect on headroom 

CGU Headroom 
Discount 

rate (in bps) 

Long-term 

growth rate 

(in bps) 

EBITDA 

growth rate 

Discount 

rate (in bps) 

Long-term 

growth rate 

(in bps) 

EBITDA 

growth rate 

EMEA 332,479 9.84% 2.50% 15.6% 428,359 446,884 494,951 

NORTH 

AMERICA 
284,882 12.24% 2.75% 24.0% 254,228 251,294 229,080 

ASIA 179,469 10.98% 3.00% 78.5% 160,893 159,130 166,012 

Group 907,796 10.44% 2.38% 24.0% 785,571 775,952 538,193 

Based on this analysis, the Directors consider it reasonable that, even in the event of changes to the key 

assumptions described above, the recoverable value of the CGU does not show any impairment loss. 

(3) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

The following table provides a breakdown for right-of-use assets: 

(in thousands of €) 
Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

machinery 

Commercial 

and 

industrial 

equipment 

Other 

tangible 

assets 

 Total  

Historical cost as of January 1, 2019 22,794 21,453 294 388 44,929 

Additions 553 1,292 - 342 2,187 

Exchange difference and other changes 685 (10)   675 

Business combination      
Balance as of December 31, 2019 24,032 22,735 294 730 47,791 

Additions 16,524 4,495 65 402 21,486 



 

 

 

Exchange difference and other changes 499 (12) - - 487 

Business combination 2,070 819 - - 2,889 

Balance as of December 31, 2020 43,125 28,037 359 1,132 72,653 

Additions 9,054 5,675 367 459 15,555 

Exchange difference and other changes (439) 13   (426) 

Business combination 7,692 1,650 - - 9,342 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 59,432 35,375 726 1,591 97,124       
Accumulated depreciation as of January 

1, 2019 
 (20,373)  (185) (20,558) 

Depreciation (2,544) (620) (100) (81) (3,345) 

Exchange difference and other changes (6)  (40) (31) (77) 

Balance as of December 31, 2019 (2,550) (20,993) (140) (297) (23,980) 

Depreciation (3,178) (1,141) (107) (113) (4,539) 

Exchange difference and other changes (76) (34) (14) (6) (130) 

Balance as of December 31, 2020 (5,804) (22,168) (261) (416) (28,649) 

Depreciation (4,530) (1,544) (113) (240) (6,427) 

Exchange difference and other changes 278 80 60 39 457 

Business combination - (512) - - (512) 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 (10,056) (24,144) (314) (617) (35,131)       
Carrying amount as of:      
January 1, 2019 22,794 1,080 294 203 24,371 

December 31, 2019 21,482 1,742 154 433 23,811 

December 31, 2020 37,321 5,869 98 716 44,004 

December 31, 2021 49,376 11,231 412 974 61,993 

These right-of-use assets were included in the impairment test as described in Note 2 above, as they were 

allocated to the CGUs identified by the Management. 

(4) INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES 

4.1 Interest in subsidiaries 

 

All the subsidiaries of EuroGroup Laminations have been included in these consolidated financial 

statements, as of 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 and are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they 

have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the group, and the 

proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of 

incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. 

 

Name Location 
%  in 

2021 

% in 

2020 

% in 

2019 
Principal activity 

Eurotranciatura S.p.A. Italy 100 100 100 
Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

Corrada S.p.A. Italy 100 100 100 Design and construction of molds 

Euroslot Tools S.r.l. Italy 60 60 60 Design and construction of molds 

Eurotranciatura Mexico 

S.A. de C.V. (i) 
Mexico 71.24 71.24 71.24 

Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

EMS Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 71.24 71.24 71.24 
Services to the Group's Mexican 

companies 

Europroperties Mexico 

S.A. de C.V. 
Mexico 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Real estate (renting of industrial properties 

to the Group’s Mexican companies) 

Euro High Tech Mexico 

S.A. de C.V. (ii) 
Mexico 70.90 70.90 70.90 

Services to the Group's Mexican 

companies 

Eurotranciatura USA 

L.L.C. (iii) 
USA 64.12 64.12 64.12 

Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

Europroperties USA L.L.C. USA 100 100 100 Real estate 

Euro Group Leverage 

Lender L.L.C. 
USA 100 100 100 Financial services 

Eurotranciatura Tunisie 

S.A.R.L. (v) 
Tunisia 51 51 51 

Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

Euro-Group Asia LTD. (vi) Hong Kong 60.26 60.26 60.26 Sub Holding company 

Euro Misi Laminations 

Jiaxing Co. Ltd. (vii) 
China 41.58 41.58 - 

Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

Euro Group Laminations 

Russia   L.L.C. 
Russia 100 100 100 Commercial activity 

SAF S.p.A. (iv)) Italy 50 - - 
Production of high-performance rotors 

and stators and related ancillary services 

 

(i) The Group has entered into a contractual arrangement with another investor (SIMEST) owing the 



 

 

 

16.36% of the share capital of Eurotranciatura Mexico, which provides for the obligation to 

repurchase the share held by the investor. The Group has concluded that has a present ownership 

interest in these shares and consequently it recognizes a share of profit which also includes the share 

held by non-controlling interest, as if it had been already acquired by the Group. These conclusions 

affect also any indirectly interest held by the Group through the subsidiary. 

 

(ii) The Group owns 70.90% of the equity shares of Euro High Tech Mexico, while the remaining 29.10% is 

held by another investor. The Group has entered into a contractual arrangement with the investor 

which provides for the obligation to repurchase the share held by the investor. The Group has 

concluded that has a present ownership interest in these shares, consequently it recognizes a share 

of profit for the entire share, including the share held by non-controlling interest, as if it had been 

already acquired by the Group. 

 

(iii) The Group owns 64.12% of the equity share of Eurotranciatura USA (interest held indirectly through 

Eurotranciatura Mexico which owns 90% of the share capital of the US subsidiary). As described in 

note (i), the Group has concluded that any share held by non-controlling interest which represent a 

present ownership interest is allocated to the group. 

 

(iv) The Group owns 50% of the equity shares of SAF S.p.A.. However, based on the shareholder 

agreement between the Group and the other shareholder, signed on May 2021 and executed 

through the board resolution date 25 June 2021, the Group has achieved the power to direct the 

relevant decisions that will be taken by the board of directors of SAF S.p.A. The relevant activities of 

SAF are determined by the board of directors of the subsidiary based on majority votes. Therefore, 

the Group concluded that it has control over SAF S.p.A. and consequently it is consolidated in these 

financial statements. Prior to that, SAF S.p.A. was considered to be an associate an accounted for 

using the equity method. Further details about this transaction, are described in note 4.3.2; 

 

(v) The Group owns 51% of the equity shares of Eurotranciatura Tunisie S.A.R.L., while the remaining 49% 

is held by another investor. The Group has entered into a contractual arrangement between the 

Group and the investor provides for the obligation to repurchase the share held by the investor. The 

Group has concluded that has a present ownership interest in these shares, consequently it 

recognizes a share of profit for the entire share, including the share held by non-controlling interest, 

as if it had been already acquired by the Group. These conclusions affect also any indirectly interest 

held by the Group through the subsidiary. 

 

(vi) The Group owns 60.26% of the equity shares of Euro-Group Asia Limited, while the remaining 39.74% 

is held by another investor. The Group has entered into a contractual arrangement between the 

Group and the investor provides for the obligation to repurchase the share held by the investor. The 

Group has concluded that has a present ownership interest in these shares, consequently it 

recognizes a share of profit for the entire share, including the share held by non-controlling interest, 

as if it had been already acquired by the Group. These conclusions affect also any indirectly interest 

held by the Group through the subsidiary. 

 

(vii) The Group owns 41.58% of the equity share of Euro Misi (interest held indirectly through Euro Group 

Asia which owns 69% of the share capital of Euro Misi). As described in note (v), the Group has 

concluded that any share held by non-controlling interest which represent a present ownership 

interest is allocated to the group. 

 

 

4.2 Interests in associates 

 

Set out below are the associates of the Group as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 which, in the opinion of 

the Directors, are material to the Group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of 

ordinary shares, which are held directly by the group. The country of incorporation or registration is also 

their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion 

of voting rights held. 

Name 

(thousand of € or percentage) 

Principal place 

of business and 

country of 

incorporation 

%  in 

2020 

% in 

2019 

Carrying 

amount 

as of 

December 31, 

2020 

Carrying 

amount 

as of 

December 31, 

2019 

SAF S.p.A. (i) Italy 50% 50% 12,015 9,865 

Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing Co. Ltd. China - 30.13% - 1,440 



 

 

 

(ii) 

Total investments in associates 12,015 11,305 

 

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial 

statements as set out in the note “Significant accounting policies”. 

(i) Information regarding interests in SAF S.p.A. is detailed above. 

(ii) Prior to the acquisition of control as described above, the Group owned directly and indirectly 30.13% 

per cent of the equity shares of Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing Co. Ltd (being this company directly 

held by Euro Group-Asia LTD with an interest of 50%). However, based on the contractual 

arrangement between the Group and another investor, which provides for the Group the obligation 

to repurchase the share held by the investor and therefore represent a present ownership interest in 

Euro Misi, the effective share of profit and equity attributable to the group is accounted at 50%. 

 

The summarised financial information below represents amounts in associates’ financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IFRS adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes. 

 

Thousand of € SAF Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing 

 As of December 31, 
 2020 2019 2019 

Current assets  24,841   19,319  14,500 

Non-current assets  5,680   5,268  18,389 

Current liabilities  4,930   3,286  23,277 

Non-current liabilities  1,561   1,571  6,732 

Equity 24,030 19,730 2,880 

 

Thousand of € SAF Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing 

 For the year ended December 31, 
 2020 2019 2019 

Revenue         19,439           19,981  18,289 

Profit for the year           3,923             1,439  (4,502) 

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income  3,923   1,439  (4,502) 
    

Dividends received from associates - 350 - 

With regard to the investment in the associate Euro Misi, the Group has performed an impairment test in 

order to verify the recoverability of the carrying amount, due to the fact, the associate is still in a ramp-

up period and therefore does not still report positive results. Based on the test performed, no impairment 

losses were identified. 

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in 

SAF S.p.A. and Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing recognised in the consolidated financial statements is 

shown below: 

Thousand of € or percentage SAF 
Euro Misi 

Laminations Jiaxing 

 As of December 31, 
 2020 2019 2019 

Equity of associate 24,030 19,730 2,880 

% of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate 

(including any present ownership interest of NCI) 
50% 50% 50% 

Carrying amount 12,015 9,865 1,440 

 

4.3 Change in the Group’s ownership interest in associates 

 

4.3.1 Acquisition of control over Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing 

 

As approved by the Board resolution on March 31, 2020, Marubeni Itochu Steel Inc. transferred to Euro 

Group Asia 9.32% of the registered capital held by Marubeni for a total consideration of $1. After the 

transfer, the shareholders have agreed to increase the share capital of Euro Misi for an equivalent 

amount in Euro 4,388 thousand ($ of 5,900 thousand, of which $ 2,950 thousand by waiving to a loan 

given by the Group) which has been wholly underwritten by Euro Group Asia, increasing its interest in 

Euro Misi up to 69%.  



 

 

 

The Group has assessed that because of the link between these transactions, the control over the former 

associate has been achieved at the completion of the capital increase, giving rise to a business 

combination achieved in steps. 

The application of the acquisition accounting required that, upon achievement of control identified by 

the Directors on April 30, 2020, the Group measured at fair value i) the total consideration transferred 

and, ii) the previously held interest in Euro Misi. The fair value of the previously held interest has been 

determined taking into account the consideration paid for the acquisition of the stake from the other 

investor and the consideration given for the capital increase. Because the fair value of the previously 

held interests was lower than the related carrying amount, a loss from remeasurement has been 

recognised in profit or loss.  

Thousand of €  
Fair value of consideration transferred:   

Cash consideration 2,709 

Fair value of previously held interests 1,679 

Total consideration transferred 4,388 

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set 

out in the table below: 

Thousand of € As of April 30, 2020 

Current assets  
Inventories 5,556 

Trade receivables 3,478 

Other current assets 1,580 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,799 

Total current assets 14,413 

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 18,421 

Intangible assets 598 

Right-of use assets 2,897 

Total non-current assets 21,916 

Current liabilities  
Trade payables 4,538 

Current financial liabilities 14,430 

Other current liabilities 3,184 

Total current liabilities 22,152 

Non-current liabilities  
Non-current financial liabilities 3,067 

Non-current lease liabilities 2,897 

Other non-current liabilities 1,859 

Total non-current liabilities 7,823 

Net identifiable assets acquired 6,354 

Less: Non-controlling interests (1,966) 

Net assets acquired 4,388 

 

Thousand of €  
Net cash arising from the acquisition: 

Cash consideration 2.709 

Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (3.799) 

Cash (inflow) from acquisition (1.090) 

 

Euro Misi contributed for €14,566 thousand in revenue and €(1,044) thousand to the Group’s profit for the 

period between the date of acquisition and the reporting date. 

If the acquisition of Euro Misi had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues 

for the year would have been higher for €19,421 thousand and Group’s profit would have been lower of 

€1,393 thousand. 

 

4.3.2 Acquisition of control over SAF S.p.A. 

 

On 25 June 2021, the board of director of SAF S.p.A., in execution of the shareholder agreement signed 

by EuroGroup Laminations and the other investor, have resolved to introduce a change in the 

governance of the company. The agreement conveys to the Group, for a period of five years until its 



 

 

 

expiration, the right to appoint the majority of the members who sits in the board of directors assigning to 

them the power for the definition of strategies, budget and plans of the company, approved by the 

board of directors, as well as suitable abilities for their realization and reducing the ability of the executive, 

appointed by the other investor, who is responsible to undertake the necessary actions for the realizations 

of strategies and plans under the supervision of the directors appointed by the Group. After having 

assessed all facts and circumstances described above, the Group has concluded that it has achieved 

the power to direct the relevant activities of SAF S.p.A. which are determined by the directors appointed 

by EuroGroup Laminations, based on the shareholder agreement. 

 

The application of the acquisition accounting required that, upon achievement of control identified by 

the Directors on June 25, 2021, the Group measured the “deem” fair value of the consideration 

transferred, being a business combination with no transfer of consideration, by reference to the previously 

held interest in SAF S.p.A.. The fair value has been determined based on a valuation technique which 

took into account the discounted cash flow available for the shareholder. The following were the key 

model inputs used in determining the fair value: 

o Assumed discount rate of 10.47%; 

o Assumed long-term sustainable growth rates of 1.71%; 

o Payout ratio based on the average historical dividends distributed to shareholders in the past 5 

years. 

 

As the fair value of the deem consideration, equaled the net asset acquired, no goodwill has been 

recognised in respect of this business combination 

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set 

out in the table below: 

 

Thousand of € As of June 25, 2021 

Current assets  
Inventories 4,700 

Trade receivables 6,555 

Other current assets 750 

Cash and cash equivalents 19,041 

Total current assets 31,046 

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 1,926 

Intangible assets 382 

Right-of use assets 8,830 

Non-current financial assets 2 

Total non-current assets 11,141 

Current liabilities  
Trade payables 3,453 

Other current liabilities 3,431 

Total current liabilities 6,884 

Non-current liabilities  
Non-current lease liabilities 8,147 

Employees benefits 232 

Total non-current liabilities 8,379 

Net identifiable assets acquired 26,924 

Less: Non-controlling interests (13,462) 

Net assets acquired 13,462 

 

Thousand of €  
Net cash arising from the acquisition: 

Cash consideration - 

Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 19,041 

Cash (inflow) from acquisition (19,041) 

 

SAF S.p.A. contributed for €15,893 thousand in revenue and for €2,804 thousand to the Group’s profit for 

the period between the date of acquisition and the reporting date. 

If the acquisition of SAF S.p.A. had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues 

for the year would have been higher for €31,787 thousand and Group profit would have been higher for 

€5,608 thousand. 

 



 

 

 

(5) NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The following table provides a breakdown for non-current financial assets: 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Share interest in EMS 7,473  4,238  3,244  

Financial receivables to parent company 5,600  5,600  -    

Share interest in Kuroda 3,759  2,137  1,583  

Other securities 761 759 760 

Security deposits 163  146  118  

Derivatives 38  -  - 

Other equity investments 3  3  4  

Financial receivables from associates - - 4,192  

Total non-current financial assets 17,797 12,883 9,901 

“Share interests in Kuroda” include the fair value of the minority interest held in the company Kuroda 

Precision Industries Ltd, a listed company on the Tokyo stock exchange. Below is a reconciliation of the 

amount reported in the table above: 

 As of December 31, 
 2021 2020 2019 

Number of shares owned 168,600 168,600 168,600 

Unit price 22.30 12.67 9.39 

Fair value as of December 31 (in thousands of €) 3,759 2,137 1,583 

 

“Share interest in EMS” include the fair value of the minority interest held in the parent company E.M.S. 

S.p.A. (“EMS”) which form a part of the employees share award arrangements, as detailed below. The 

fair value of the shares has been determined by using multiple valuation techniques based on the mix of 

market approach and income approach in order to estimates the fair value of the net assets of EMS. 

Below is a reconciliation of the amount reported in the table above: 

 

 As of December 31, 
 2021 2020 2019 

Number of shares  116.410 116.410 116.410 

Unit price 64.20 36.41 27.87 

Fair value as of December 31(in thousands of €) 7,473  4,238  3,244  

 

Financial receivables to parent company refers to the loan granted to E.M.S. S.p.A. for a principal amount 

of €5,600 thousand provided by the Group in 2020, bearing annual interest 1,5%. 

 

(6) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The following table provides a breakdown for deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities: 

 

(in thousands of €) 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

Recognised 

at profit and 

loss 

Recognised 

in OCI 

Exchange 

difference 

and other 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

Deferred Tax assets arising on:      

Employee benefits 208 9 33 - 250 

Property, plant and equipment 3,310 6,099 - 544 9,953 

Right-of-use assets 44 1,025 - 4 1,073 

Intangible assets 2,319 1,488 - (61) 3,746 

Provision for obsolete inventory 101 (23) - (4) 74 

Doubtful debt provision 1,420 162 - (12) 1,570 

Share interest in EMS 384 305 - - 689  
Tax losses 372 1,675 - (92) 1,955 

Customer advances 683 991 - (126) 1,548 

Other 1,411 379 - (238) 1,552 

Total deferred tax assets 10,252 12,110 33 15 22,410 

Deferred Tax liabilities arising 

on: 
     

Property, plant and equipment 1,830 813 - (203) 2,440 

Share award expenses 1,113 555 - 353 2,021 

Inventory 519 (684) - - (165) 



 

 

 

Total deferred tax liabilities 3,462 684 - 150 4,296 

 

(in thousands of €) 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

Recognised 

at profit and 

loss 

Recognised 

in OCI 

Exchange 

difference 

and other 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

Deferred Tax assets arising on:      

Employee benefits 250 (35) (37) - 178 

Property, plant and equipment 9,953 (1,608) - 913 9,258 

Right-of-use assets 1,073 (71) - 50 1,052 

Intangible assets 3,746 (900) - 29 2,875 

Provision for obsolete inventory 74 979 - 38 1,091 

Doubtful debt provision 1,570 650 - 49 2,269 

Share interest in EMS 689 887  - - 1,576 

Tax losses 1,955 (1,184) - 54 825 

Customer advances 1,548 (862) - 91 777 

Other 1,552 1,135 - 437 3,124 

Total deferred tax assets 22,410 (1,009) (37) 1,661 23,025 

Deferred Tax liabilities arising 

on: 
     

Property, plant and equipment 2,440 1,908 - 249 4,597 

Share award expenses 2,021 (1,050) - 1,173 2,144 

Other - 80 - 4 84 

Inventory (165)  1,428   -     -     1,263  

Total deferred tax liabilities 4,296  2,366   -     1,426   8,088  
 

The increase in deferred tax assets which occurred in 2020 is mainly attributable to timing differences 

which arose due to the revaluation of tangible assets carried out by certain Italian subsidiaries (pursuant 

to Italian Law 126/2020) whose effects were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

(7) OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

The following table provides a breakdown for other non-current assets: 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Other non-current tax receivables 1,769   748   1,497  

Other non-current receivables  138   142   134  

Total other non-current financial assets  1,907   890   1,631  

 

“Other non-current tax receivables” are related to the portion of the tax credit, for investments in property 

plant and equipment made during the year, that will be available for use in future years. 

CURRENT ASSETS 

(8) INVENTORIES 

The breakdown of the caption is detailed below: 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Raw materials 114,530  51,851  52,224  

Semi-finished goods 32,780  26,632  28,532  

Finished products 57,801  43,912  42,419  

Contract work-in-progress 21,367  11,447  5,156  

Inventory obsolescence provision (6,530) (1,096) (457) 

Inventories 219,948  132,746  127,874  

The table below shows changes in inventory obsolescence provision: 

(in thousands of €) 
As of December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Opening Inventory obsolescence provision             (1,096)                (457)                (125) 

Impairment  (5,453)                (824)                (345) 

Utilization 19                   185                     13  

Closing Inventory obsolescence provision (6,530) (1,096) (457) 

Inventories are not collateralised. Inventories do not secure liabilities, nor are they recognised at net 

realisation value. 

 



 

 

 

(9) TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Trade receivables comprise the following: 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Trade receivables 104,926 67,549 73,188 

Doubtful debt provision (7,907) (7,821) (6,979) 

Trade receivables 97,019 59,728 66,209 

These are reported net of the provision for doubtful debt that reflects the estimated losses in connection 

with the Group’s credit portfolio. Changes in the provision for doubtful debt during the three years are 

shown below: 

(in thousands of €) 
As of December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Opening Doubtful debt provision of trade receivables 7,821 6,979 7,128 

Effect of change in scope of consolidation 339 - - 

Provisions 1,227 1,382 518 

Utilization (138) (441) (35) 

Releases (1,342) (99) (632) 

Closing Doubtful debt provision of trade receivables 7,907 7,821 6,979 

The following table shows trade receivables by geographic area: 

(in thousands of €) 
As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

EMEA                   64,211              39,304              40,269  

- of which in Italy                  35,316              18,473              16,108  

NORTH AMERICA                   21,921              15,938              25,920  

- of which in Mexico                  10,678              10,391              21,141  

- of which in United States                  11,243                5,547                4,779  

ASIA                   10,887                 4,486                      20  

- of which in China                  10,887                4,486                       -    

 Trade receivables 97,019 59,728 66,209 

 

(10) OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

The following table provides a breakdown for other current assets:   

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

VAT receivables 17,497 5,807 3,444 

Other tax receivables 2,612 863 621 

Advances to suppliers 2,582 2,270 1,929 

Deferred expenses 2,425 1,760 1,243 

Receivables for insurance and claims 1,556 1,826 2,493 

Receivables from others 422 377 824 

Other current assets 27,094 12,903 10,554 

 

The other tax receivables are related to the investments in property plant and equipment made during 

the year in accordance with Article 1 paragraphs 1051 to 1063 of Law 178 of 30/12/2020 (“Legge di 

Bilancio 2021”). 

 

(11) CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLES 

The following table provides a breakdown for current tax receivables:   

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Foreign income tax receivables 1,896 2,730 5,208 

Current tax receivables 1,896 2,730 5,208 

 

(12) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents refer to current account deposits held at banks.  



 

 

 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Cash at bank 136,751  106,675  43,915  

Cash on hand 911  980  924  

Cash and cash equivalents 137,662 107,655 44,839 

The item comprises cash and cash equivalents recognised in the financial statements of the consolidated 

companies. There are no restrictions to the use of cash and cash equivalents.  

Cash and cash equivalents in non-EU countries mainly refer to current account in Mexico and USA for a 

value of approximately €21,400 thousand, €23,518 thousand and €9,951 thousand respectively as of 

December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.  
 

EQUITY 

 

(13) EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 

 

On 31 December 2021, share capital is wholly subscribed and paid and amounts to €6,112 thousand and 

it is divided into 6,111,940 shares. 

Table below, shows a reconciliation between the number of ordinary shares as of December 31, 2019, 

2020 and 2021: 

N° shares as of December 31, 2019                                       4,500,000 

Increase for subscription of a capital increase                                                   1,611,940    

N° shares as of December 31, 2020                                       6,111,940 

Increase for subscription of a capital increase -  

N° shares as of December 31, 2021                                       6,111,940 

 

SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE 

The share premium reserve at 31 December 2021 amounted to €34,410 thousand and it is the same as of 

December 31, 2020. The amount as of December 31, 2019 and as of January 1, 2019 was equal to zero. 

During 2020, the increase in share capital amounted to €40,000 thousand, of which €1,612 thousand was 

recorded in the share capital item and the difference after deducting accessory expenses related to 

the share capital, equal to €34,410 thousand, to the Share Premium reserve.  

 

OTHER RESERVES 

Other reserves amount to €5,204 thousand as of December 31, 2021 (negative €5,950 thousand as of 

December 31, 2020, negative €2,228 thousand as of December 31, 2019) and are detailed in the 

following table: 
 

 As of December, 

(in thousands of €) 2021 2020 2019 

Legal reserve 648 648 613 

IFRS transition reserve (3,875) (3,875) (3,875) 

Foreign exchange translation  1,714 (4,215) 1,227 

Other comprehensive income  6,717  1,492  (193) 

Of which:    

- Cumulative actuarial (loss)  (426) (480) (327) 

- Cumulative fair value gain on equity instruments 

measured at FVTOCI 
7,156  1,972  134 

- Cumulative fair value (loss) arising on hedging 

instruments 
(13) - - 

Total Other Reserve 5,204 (5,950) (2,228) 

 

RETAINED EARNINGS 

Retained Earnings amount to € 81,829 thousand as of December 31, 2021, € 63,077 thousand as of 

December 31, 2020 and €60,912 thousand at 31 December 2019. 

  

(14) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

Non-controlling interest on December 31, 2021 amounts to €19,772 thousand. In particular, this account 



 

 

 

is composed to non-controlling interest of: 

• Eurotranciatura Mexico S.A. de C.V, equal to 12.4% of third parties; 

• Eurotranciatura USA L.L.C., equal to 21.2% of third parties; 

• Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing CO. LTD, equal to 31% of third parties; 

• SAF S.p.A., equal to 50% of third parties. 

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-

controlling interests is set out below (before intragroup eliminations). 

 
Eurotranciatura Mexico S.A. de C.V  

(in thousand of €) 
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Current assets 107,088 73,949 72,814 

Nun-current assets 48,977 38,500 34,389 

Current liabilities 116,563 71,875 65,348 

Non-current liabilities 2,471 10,819 8,442 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 32,198 25,837 29,007 

Non - controlling interest 4,833 3,918 4,406 

Revenue 150,506 109,393 105,912 

Expenses 145,310 110,174 104,971 

(Loss) for the year 5,196 (781) 941 

(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company 4,539 (650) 809 

(Loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests 657 (131) 132 

 
Eurotranciatura USA L.L.C  

(in thousand of €) 
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Current assets 42,101 19,610 17,552 

Nun-current assets 25,828 18,708 19,514 

Current liabilities 39,408 15,591 12,304 

Non-current liabilities 21,193 17,538 18,615 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,778 4,091 4,846 

Non - controlling interest 1,551 1,098 1,301 

Revenue            95,274  46,814 49,145 

Expenses            94,001  47,229 48,886 

(Loss) for the year              1,273  (415) 259 

(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company              1,004  (327) 204 

(Loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests                 269  (88) 55 

 

Euro Misi Laminations Jiaxing CO. LTD  

(in thousand of €) 
31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Current assets 25,574 10,228 

Nun-current assets 26,765 21,363 

Current liabilities 34,695 10,995 

Non-current liabilities 13,385 13,986 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,939 4,561 

Non - controlling interest 1,320 2,049 

Revenue 32,784 14,463 

Expenses 35,722 14,124 

(Loss) for the year (2,938) 339 

(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company (2,027) 234 

(Loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests (911) 105 

 

SAF S.p.A.  

(in thousand of €) 
31/12/2021 

Current assets 28,391 

Nun-current assets 11,415 

Current liabilities 6,263 

Non-current liabilities 7,637 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 12,953 

Non - controlling interest 12,953 

Revenue 32,026 

Expenses 26,154 

(Loss) for the year 5,872 

(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company 2,936 

(Loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests 2,936 

RECONCILIATON OF PARENT COMPANY'S EQUITY AND PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TO CONSOLIDATED EQUITY 

AND PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 



 

 

 

(in thousands of €) 

Year ended December 

31, 2021 

Year ended December 

31, 2020 

Year ended December 

31, 2019 

Profit for 

the year 

Total 

equity 

Profit for 

the year 

Total 

equity 

Profit for 

the year 

Total 

equity 

Total of the Parent Company 3,761  50,080  898  44,708  906  7,252  

Consolidation adjustments:       

Subsidiaries' profit and equity  22,070   184,036  4,907  143,909  3,453  131,526  

Elimination of investees' carrying 

amounts 
(2,073) (86,722) (129) (84,627) 3,236  (71,268) 

Valuation of associates 

accounted for using the equity 

method 

-    (67) (1,739) (33) (1,034) 469  

Elimination of intra-Group 

dividends 
(3,067) -    (1,615) -    (2,542) -    

Other consolidation adjustment -    -    -    (1) 1  3  

Equity and result for the year 

attributable to non-controlling 

interests 

 (1,939)  (19,772) (122) (6,307) (360) (4,798) 

Total consolidation adjustments  14,991   77,475  1,302  52,941  2,754  55,932  

Attributable to the owners of the 

Parent 

 18,752   127,555  
2,200  97,649  3,660  63,184  

Attributable to non-controlling 

interests 

 1,939   19,772  
122  6,307  360  4,798  

Total  20,691   147,327  2,322  103,956  4,020  67,982  

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

(15) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND BORROWINGS 

The following table shows the detail of the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

(in thousands of €) 
Bank 

borrowings 

Committed 

loans 
Bond Loan 

Payables 

to 

factors 

Payables 

to other 

investors 

Derivatives Total 

Opening balance 72,914  62,191  1,700  6,409  18,231  232  161,677  

Repayments (24,817)  (1,700) (6,409) (352)  (33,278) 

Proceeds 41,113  7,687   11,705  271   60,776  

Other non-cash movements 438      76  514  

As of 31 December 2019, 89,648  69,878  -    11,705  18,150  308  189,689  
Of which:        

Non-current 57,088  -    -    -    18,150  308  75,546  

Current 32,560  69,878  -    11,705  -    -    114,143  

 

(in thousands of €) 
Bank 

borrowings 

Committed 

loans 

Payables 

to factors 

Payables 

to other 

investors 

Derivatives Total 

Opening balance 89,648  69,878  11,705  18,150  308  189,689  

Repayments (95,880) (21,404) (11,705) (1,694)  (130,683) 

Proceeds 131,475  -  8,381  -   139,856  

Change in scope of consolidation 17,497  -  -  -   17,497  

Other non-cash movements (1,714) (176) -     -     261  (1,629) 

As of 31 December 2020, 141,026  48,298  8,381  16,456  569  214,730  

Of which:      - 

Non-current 112,523  -    -    16,456  569  129,548  

Current 28,503  48,298  8,381  -    -    85,182  

 

(in thousands of €) 
Bank 

borrowings 

Committed 

loans 

Payables 

to factors 

Payables to 

other 

investors 

Derivatives Total 

Opening balance 141,026  48,298  8,381  16,849  569  215,123  

Repayments (32,684) (9,679) (8,381) (1,861) -     (52,605) 

Proceeds 54,140  -   11,781  2,053  -     67,974  

Other non-cash movements 2,063  388  -     -     (411) 2,040  

As of 31 December 2021, 164,545  39,007  11,781  17,041  158  232,532  
Of which:       

Non-current 119,742  -    -    15,097  158  134,997  



 

 

 

Current 44,803  39,007  11,781  1,944  -    97,535  

 

Payables to other investor are related to the investment agreements with Simest S.p.A.. The current 

portion due in 2022 is related to the loan for the setting-up of Eurotranciatura México, S. A. De C. V.. 

 

Bank 
Interest 

rate 
Terms Expiry Date 

Remaining 

debt 31 

December 

2019 

Within 12 

months 

Over 12 

months 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Variable 
Euribor 6M + 

5.572%  
23/03/2022 2,782  2,782  -  

Unicredit Fixed 4.91%  31/03/2022 4,006  -    4,006 

Intesa San Paolo Variable Libor 6M + 2.40%  30/12/2020 7,121  7,121  - 

Security Bank Fixed 4.90% 05/07/2021 49  10  39  

First Bank Fixed 4.75% 21/01/2025 56  10  46  

First Bank Fixed 2.31% 25/02/2022 613  337  276  

Ideal Lease Fixed 4.00% 31/10/2023 512  203  309  

First Bank Fixed 4.86% 05/07/2021  117  73  44  

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.31% 25/01/2020  751  751 -    

Unicredit Fixed 2.90% 31/12/2022  7,610  3,497 4,113  

Unicredit Fixed 2.95% 31/12/2022  1,343  480  863  

BCC Fixed 1.25% 15/01/2023  3,533  1,262  2,271  

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Fixed 1.00% 31/03/2022  2,250  1,000  1,250  

Banco Desio Fixed 0.80% 10/04/2022  1,175  125  1,050  

Deutsche Bank Fixed 0.61% 11/06/2023  2,100  150  1,950  

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.01% 05/10/2021  2,010  249  1,761  

Credit Agricole Fixed 0.90% 24/07/2023  6,034  396  5,638  

Banco BPM Fixed 1.02% 30/09/2022  3,155  853  2,302  

Intesa San Paolo Variable 
Euribor 12M + 

1.80% 
17/10/2024  10,000  1,019  8,981  

Banco Desio Variable 
Euribor 1M + 

1.10% 
10/07/2024  1,838  98  1,740  

Raiffeisen Fixed 2.10% 31/08/2024  2,000  191  1,809  

MedioCredito Centrale Fixed 2.02% 27/09/2024  9,523  2,574  6,949  

Banco BPM Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

1.53% 
31/03/2024  7,569  2,046  5,523  

Banca Nazionale del Lavoro Fixed 0.50% 29/05/2021  1,889  1,259  630  

Credit Agricole Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

1.00% 
13/12/2024  5,000  1,563  3,437  

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Fixed 2.41% 30/06/2020 643  643  -    

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.59% 30/05/2021 1,481  1,234  247  

BCC Fixed 1.10% 30/09/2021 2,436  2,030  406  

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.71% 31/12/2024 1,500  405  1,095  

Banco BPM Fixed 1.03% 30/09/2022 552  199  353  

Total    89,648 32,560 57,088 

 

Bank 
Interest 

rate 
Terms Expiry Date 

Remaining 

debt 31 

December 

2020 

Within 12 

months 

Over 12 

months 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Variable 
Euribor 6M + 

5.572%  
23/03/2022 1,528 1,019 509 

Unicredit Fixed 4.91%  31/03/2022 3,671 - 3,671 

Intesa San Paolo Variable Libor 6M + 2.4%  30/06/2024 4,890 1,630 3,260 

Intesa San Paolo Fixed 4.30%  17/09/2021 2,363 2,363 - 

Unicredit Fixed 4.75% 24/02/2025 163 20 143 

Unicredit Fixed 4.75% 24/02/2025 66 8 58 

Unicredit Fixed 4.75% 24/02/2025 66 8 58 

Unicredit Fixed 4.65% 24/02/2025 66 8 58 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Fixed 4.85% 19/11/2021 396 396 - 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Fixed 4.85% 13/12/2021 416 416 - 

Cassa Depositi e Prestiti 

S.p.A. 
Fixed 5.20% 02/05/2022 9,714 - 9,714 

TC Leasing Fixed 5.09% 15/01/2022 166 111 55 

TC Leasing Fixed 5.27% 15/05/2022 358 100 258 

TC Leasing Fixed 5.66% 15/05/2022 402 121 281 

TC Leasing Fixed 6.01% 15/12/2022 367 122 245 

First Bank Fixed 4.90% 05/07/2021 80 80 - 

First Bank Fixed 4.75% 21/01/2025 44 10 34 

Marlin Capital Solutions Fixed 4.50% 01/02/2022 32 27 5 

Ideal Lease Fixed 4.00% 31/10/2023 294 139 155 

First Bank Fixed 2.31% 25/02/2022 338 274 64 

PPP LOAN Fixed 1.00% 30/04/2022 359 - 359 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Fixed 1.00% 31/03/2022 1,250 1,000 250 

Banco BPM Fixed 2.00% 30/04/2022 1,000 714 286 

Banco BPM Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

1.40% 
31/03/2025 7,569 1,742 5,827 



 

 

 

Unicredit Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

3.20% 
31/12/2023 8,953 2,897 6,056 

Banco BPM Fixed 1.02% 30/09/2023 3,155 1,137 2,018 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.01% 05/10/2022 1,761 751 1,010 

Credit Agricole Fixed 0.90% 24/07/2024 5,638 1,194 4,444 

Credit Agricole Variable 
Euribor 3M- + 

1.40% 
13/12/2025 4,756 738 4,018 

MedioCredito Centrale Fixed 2.00% 30/09/2025 9,523 1,930 7,593 

Banco Desio Fixed 0.80% 10/04/2023 1,050 376 674 

Deutsche Bank Fixed 1.00% 11/06/2024 1,950 450 1,500 

Banco Desio Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

1.49% 
10/07/2025 1,740 295 1,445 

BCC Fixed 1.25% 15/11/2023 3,158 946 2,212 

Intesa San Paolo Variable 
Euribor 3M + 

1.85% 
17/04/2025 9,000 2,000 7,000 

Raiffeisen Fixed 2.15% 31/08/2026 1,809 158 1,651 

Unicredit Variable 
Euribor 6M + 

1.50% 
30/06/2026 10,000 349 9,651 

Deutsche Bank Variable 
Euribor 12M + 

1.40% 
30/06/2026 7,000 700 6,300 

Banco BPM Variable 
Euribor 6M + 

1.47% 
30/06/2026 8,000 800 7,200 

Credit Agricole Variable 
Euribor 12 M + 

1.75% 
31/12/2025 5,000 246 4,754 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Variable 
Euribor 1M + 

1.45% 
30/09/2026 15,000 - 15,000 

Banco BPM Fixed 1.03% 30/09/2022 353 201 152 

Deutsche Bank Variable 
Euribor 6M + 

1.40% 
29/12/2026 3,000 346 2,654 

BCC Fixed 1.10% 30/06/2022 2,091 1,390 701 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.70% 31/12/2025 1,500 300 1,200 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.60% 30/11/2021 991 991 - 

Total    141,026 28,503 112,523 

 

Bank 
Interest 

rate 
Terms Expiry Date 

Remaining 

debt 31 

December 

2021 

Within 12 

months 

Over 12 

months 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Variable Euribor 6M + 7.80% 23/03/2022 552 552 - 

Intesa San Paolo variable Libor 6M + 2.4%  30/06/2024 3,532 1,766 1,766 

Intesa San Paolo Fixed 4.40%  30/10/2022 2,207 2,207 - 

Unicredit Fixed 5.00% 27/10/2022 676 676 - 

Unicredit Fixed 5.00% 27/10/2022 396 396 - 

Unicredit Fixed 5.00% 23/11/2022 861 861 - 

Unicredit Fixed 5.00% 23/11/2022 452 452 - 

Unicredit Fixed 5.00% 05/12/2022 190 190 - 

Unicredit Fixed 4.90% 31/08/2022 504 504 - 

Unicredit Fixed 3.70% 24/02/2025 155 44 111 

Unicredit Fixed 5.45% 24/02/2025 63 18 45 

Unicredit Fixed 5.25% 24/02/2025 63 18 45 

Unicredit Fixed 3.92% 24/02/2025 63 18 45 

Unicredit Fixed 2.00% 24/02/2025 245 70 175 

Unicredit Fixed 3.30% 24/02/2025 63 18 45 

Unicredit Fixed 6.65% 24/02/2025 163 47 116 

Unicredit Fixed 2.03% 24/02/2025 123 35 88 

Unicredit Fixed 1.90% 24/02/2025 86 25 61 

Cassa Depositi e Prestiti 

S.p,A, 
Fixed 5.20% 02/05/2022 10,492 10,492 - 

TC Leasing Fixed 5.27% 15/05/2022 42 42 - 

MISI Fixed 1.50% 14/04/2023 2,737 2,737 - 

Ideal Lease Fixed 4.00% 31/10/2023 168 126 42 

First Bank Fixed 2.31% 25/02/2022 47 47 - 

First Bank Fixed 2.00% 14/06/2026 856 236 620 

First Bank Fixed 4.75% 21/01/2025 39 13 26 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Variable Euribor 6M + 1.45% 30/09/2026 15,000 2,317 12,683 

Deutsche Bank Fixed 1.00% 11/06/2024 1,500 450 1,050 

Deutsche Bank Variable Euribor 6M + 1.40% 30/06/2026 6,300 700 5,600 

Banca Nazionale del 

Lavoro 
Fixed 2.77% 22/12/2028 14,268 1,853 12,415 

Banca Nazionale del 

Lavoro 
Fixed 3.02% 22/12/2028 2,500 341 2,159 

BCC Fixed 1.25% 15/11/2023 2,212 945 1,267 

Unicredit Variable 
Euribor 12M + 

3.20% 
31/12/2023 6,056 2,898 3,158 

Unicredit Variable Euribor 6M + 1.50% 30/06/2026 10,000 - 10,000 

Unicredit Variable Euribor 6M + 2.16% 31/12/2027 10,000 - 10,000 

Banco BPM Variable Euribor 6M + 1.90% 31/03/2025 5,827 1,742 4,085 

Banco BPM Fixed 1.00% 30/09/2023 2,018 1,137 881 

Banco BPM Variable Euribor 6M + 1.50% 30/06/2026 7,200 800 6,400 



 

 

 

Banco BPM Variable Euribo 3M + 1.85% 30/09/2026 4,000 533 3,467 

Intesa San Paolo Variable Euribor 6M + 2.00% 17/04/2025 7,000 2,000 5,000 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.00% 05/10/2022 1,010 1,010 - 

Credit Agricole Variable Euribor 6M + 1.75% 31/12/2025 5,000 300 4,700 

Banco Desio Fixed 0.80% 10/04/2023 674 376 298 

Banco Desio Variable Euribor 3M + 1.40% 10/07/2025 1,444 295 1,149 

Credit Agricole Fixed 0.90% 24/07/2024 4,444 1,193 3,251 

Credit Agricole Variable Euribor 3M + 1.40% 13/12/2025 4,018 738 3,280 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.63% 30/09/2027 15,000 - 15,000 

Raiffeisen Fixed 2.15% 31/08/2026 1,654 156 1,498 

MedioCredito Centrale Fixed 2.00% 30/09/2025 7,593 1,931 5,662 

Deutsche Bank Variable Euribor 6M + 1.40% 29/12/2026 3,000 346 2,654 

Banco BPM Fixed 1.00% 30/09/2022 152 152 - 

BCC Fixed 1.10% 30/06/2022 700 700 - 

Credit Agricole Fixed 1.70% 31/12/2025 1,200 300 900 

Total            164,545          44,803          119,742  

 

Some of the loans stipulated have a variable rate. The use of derivative financial instruments is reserved 

for management of exposure to fluctuations in interest rates associated with monetary flows and no 

speculative activities are carried out or permitted. The instruments used for this purpose are exclusively 

Interest Rate Swaps (IRS). The Group generally borrows at fixed interest rates and manages the risk of 

interest fluctuation of those loans at a variable interest rate through hedging arrangements.  

 

Debt covenants 

 

Certain of EuroGroup Laminations’ borrowings are subject to financial covenants requiring maintaining 

a ratio of net financial indebtedness to EBITDA (or MOL) lower than certain thresholds. Below are the 

details by company and banking institution: 

 

Entity Bank 
Initial 

Amount 

Subscription 

date 
Maturity 

Financial 

parameter 
Parameter 

Value as of December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

EuroGroup 

Laminations- 

Consolidated 

financial 

statement 

Unicredit 14,500 2017 2022 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1,53 2,75 3,72 

EuroGroup 

Laminations 

Monte Paschi di 

Siena 
5,000 2015 2020 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<3.9 - 2,56 3,72 

EuroGroup 

Laminations 
Intesa San Paolo 4,800 2016 2021 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<6.0 1.53 2.66 3,72 

Eurotranciatura ICCREA Bank 1,500 2019 2024 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1,53 2.56 3,72 

Eurotranciatura Deutsche Bank 3,000 2018 2023 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1.53 2.64 3,72 

Eurotranciatura Cariparma 5,000 2019 2024 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1.56 2.64 3,72 

Eurotranciatura Intesa San Paolo 10,000 2018 2024 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<3.0 1.56 2.66 N/A 

Eurotranciatura Mediocentrale 10,000 2019 2024 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1.53 2.64 3,72 

Eurotranciatura Unicredit 14,500 2017 2022 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<8.0 4.26 7,71 7,91 

Eurotranciatura Deutsche Bank* 7,000 2020 2026 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.5 1.53 2.64 N/A 

Eurotranciatura 
Monte Paschi di 

Siena SACE* 
15,000 2020 2026 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1.53 2.64 N/A 



 

 

 

Eurotranciatura Unicredit SACE*  10,000 2021 2027 

Net 

Financial 

Indebtednes

s /EBITDA 

<4.0 1,53 2,56 N/A 

*With SACE guarantee 

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 EuroGroup Laminations was in compliance with all other 

covenants. 

Derivative financial instruments 

 

Type of 

instrument 

Identification 

number 

Contractual 

Notional 

Reference 

date 

Notional 

EuroGroup 

Lamination

s S.p.A. 

Parameter 

Bank 

Parameter 
Maturity 

Fair value 

as of 

December 

31, 2019 

(in thousands of €) 

IRS 2 4,531 31/12/2019 0.00 0.4 + EU6M/360 30/06/2020 (1) 

IRS 56 1,343 31/12/2019 (0.311) 0.36 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (15) 

IRS 58 7,610 31/12/2019 (0.25) 0.41 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (93) 

IRS 61 2,100 31/12/2019 (0.39) 
0.26 + 

EU3M/360 
09/06/2023 (24) 

IRS 64 6,034 31/12/2019 (0.32) 0.495 + EU3M 24/07/2023 (59) 

IRS 67 7,570 31/12/2019 (0.40) -0.2 + EU3M 31/03/2024 (18) 

IRS 66 10,000 31/12/2019 (0.31) 0 + EU3M 17/10/2024 (62) 

IRS 69 5,000 31/12/2019 0.00 
0.001+EU3M/36

0 
13/12/2024 (36) 

CAP 43 320 31/12/2019 0.01 0.1 + EU3M/360 25/01/2020 - 

CAP 46 1,282 31/12/2019 (0.83) 0.3 + EU3M/360 31/03/2022 - 

CAP 59 2,500 31/12/2019 (0.28) 0.3 + EU3M/360 31/03/2022 - 

Total  48,290     (308) 

 

 

Type of 

instrument 

Identification 

number 

Contractual 

Notional 

Reference 

date 

Notional 

EuroGroup 

Laminations 

S.p.A. 

Parameter 

Bank Parameter Maturity 

Fair value as 

of December 

31, 2020 

(in thousands of €) 

IRS 56 908 31/12/2020 (0.27) 0.36 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (10) 

IRS 58 5,148 31/12/2020 (0.25) 0.41 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (60) 

IRS 61 1,500 31/12/2020 1.00 0.26 + EU3M/360 09/06/2023 (17) 

IRS 64 8,000 31/12/2020 (0.32) 0.495 + EU3M 24/07/2023 (33) 

IRS 66 5,834 31/12/2020 (0.31) EU3M 31/03/2024 (35) 

IRS 67 8,000 31/12/2020 (0.40) -0.2 + EU3M 17/10/2024 (92) 

IRS 69 5,000 31/12/2020 0.00 0.001+EU3M/360 13/12/2024 (46) 

IRS 73 7,000 31/12/2020 (0.48) 0.1 + EU3M/360 30/06/2026 (135) 

IRS 74 10,000 31/12/2020 (0.49) 
-0.25 + 

EU3M/360 
30/06/2026 (92) 

IRS 76 8,000 31/12/2020 (0.48) -0.318 + EU3M 30/06/2026 (49) 

CAP 46 258 31/12/2020 (0.83) 0.3 + EU3M/360 31/03/2022 - 

CAP 59 1,500 31/12/2020 (0.28) 0.3 + EU3M/360 31/03/2022 - 

Total  61,148     (569) 

 

Type of 

instrument 

Identification 

number 

Contractual 

Notional 

Reference 

date 

Notional 

EuroGroup 

Laminations 

S.p.A. 

Parameter 

Bank Parameter Maturity 

Fair value as 

of December 

31, 2021 

(in thousands of €) 

IRS 56 461 31/12/2021 - 0.36 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (3) 

IRS 58 2,611 31/12/2021 (0.25) 0.41 + EU6M 30/12/2022 (18) 

IRS 61 900 31/12/2021 1.00 0.26 + EU3M/360 09/06/2023 (6) 

IRS 64 8,000 31/12/2021 (0.32) 0.495 + EU3M 24/07/2023 (14) 

IRS 66 6,000 31/12/2021 (0.31) EU3M 17/10/2024 (34) 

IRS 67 4,070 31/12/2021 (0.40) -0.2 + EU3M 31/03/2024 (10) 

IRS 69 5,000 31/12/2021 - 0.001+EU3M/360 13/12/2024 (16) 

IRS 73 6,300 31/12/2021 (0.48) 0.1 + EU3M/360 30/06/2026 (44) 

IRS 74 10,000 31/12/2021 (0.49) 
-0.25 + 

EU3M/360 
30/06/2026 17 

IRS 76 7,200 31/12/2021 (0.48) -0.318 + EU3M 30/06/2026 21 



 

 

 

IRS 3 2,951 31/12/2021 (0.54) EU3M/360 29/12/2026 (13) 

CAP 59 250 31/12/2021           (0.28) 0.3 + EU3M/360 31/03/2022 - 

Total  53,743     (120) 

 

(16) LEASE LIABILITIES 

The following table provides a breakdown for non-current and current lease liabilities: 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Non-current lease liabilities                47,568               36,564  19,485  

Current lease liabilities            7,768            4,763 2,902 

Total lease liabilities 55,336 41,327 22,387 

 

(in thousands of €) 2021 2020 2019 

Opening balance  41,327   22,387   23,496  

Additions due to new leases and renewals  15,555   24,374   2,187  

Business combination  8,831     -     -    

Principal repayment of lease liabilities (10,377)  (5,434) (3,296)  

Other non-cash movements  -     -     -    

Closing balance  55,336   41,327   22,387  

The following table summarizes the undiscounted contractual cash flows of lease liabilities by maturity 

date: 

in thousands of € As of December 31 
January 1, 2019 

Rate 2021 2020 2019 

1 years            7,768            4,763 2,902 2,760 

2 years  6,717  4,286  2,626  2,532 

3 years  6,427  4,131  2,639  2,541 

4 years  6,218  4,097  2,591  2,549 

Beyond  28,206  24,050  11,629  13,114 

Total lease liabilities 55,336 41,327 22,387 23,496 

 

(17) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

 

The item includes the payable for severance pay and the payable for severance indemnity of the Group 

accrued to the directors and employees of the Italian companies. The foreign companies do not 

recognize benefits to employees or other components attributable to long-term benefits. 

The table below shows changes in Employee benefits occurred in defined benefit obligations: 

 

Employee benefits – TFR As of December 31, 

(in thousands of €) 2021 2020 2019 

Opening balance 5,080 5,087 4,857 

Changes through statement of profit and loss 102 103 97 

- of which: Service cost 124 116 106 

- of which: Financial charges (22) (13) (9) 

Benefit paid (539) (325) (311) 

Changes through statement of comprehensive income (152) 215 444 

Change in scope of consolidation 318 - - 

Closing balance  4,809 5,080 5,087 

 

The following table summarizes the main financial assumptions used in determining the present value of 

the TFR: 

 
 As of December 31 
 2021 2020 2019 

Representative termination rate 2,70% 2,70% 2,70% 

Mortality table ISTAT tables 2020 ISTAT tables 2019 ISTAT tables 2018 

Mean withdrawal rate 4,00% 4,00% 4,00% 

Mean withdrawal amount rate 70,00% 70,00% 70,00% 

Salary increase (included inflation) 3,50% 3,50% 3,50% 



 

 

 

Representative discount rate 0,576% 0,131% 0,514% 

 

Table below, shows a sensitivity analysis of employee benefits valuation as of December 31, 2021: 

 

(in thousands of €) 
Annual discount 

rate 

Annual inflation 

rate 

Annual turnover 

rate 

As of December 31, 2021  0,50% -0,50% 0,50% -0,50% 0,50% -0,50% 

December 31, 2021 4,707 5,176 5,061 4,809 4,839 5,071 

December 31, 2020 5,251 5,800 5,666 5,368 5,372 5,730 

December 31, 2019 5,298 5,843 5,713 5,413 5,454 5,714 

 

(18) PROVISIONS  

 

The item consists of the provision for agency termination benefits for €384 thousand and other provision 

for 18 thousand.  

 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Provision for agency termination benefits 402 384 384 

Provisions 402 384 384 

 

The table below shows changes in provisions: 

 

Provision As of December 31, 

(in thousands of €) 2021 2020 2019 

Opening Balance 384 384 723 

Business combination 18 - - 

Utilization - - (339) 

Closing Balance 402 384 384 

 

(19) OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

The following table provides a breakdown for other non-current liabilities: 

 

in thousands of € As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Share award plan liability  3,937 1,459 619 

Deferred income 3,349 601 4 

Payables for shareholder dividends 1,508 1,508 1,508 

Other non-current tax payables 485 824 - 

Other non-current payables  627   393   98  

Other non-current liabilities  9,906   4,785   2,229  

The caption “Deferred income” is related to the tax credit, in the nature of grants for an investment made 

to purchase a plant during 2020 and 2021, that is deferred over the amortization period of the underlying 

asset. Such capital contribution will be recognised in the financial statement on a pro-rata temporis basis, 

in the fiscal years in which the economic benefits deriving from these investments are manifested, which 

will coincide with the economic useful life of such plants. 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

(20) TRADE PAYABLES 

 

The caption includes the amounts due for supplies for production, capital expenditures and services 

received.  The Group does not have any reverse factoring and/or supplier financing transactions with its 

suppliers. The following table shows trade payables by geographic area: 
 

(in thousands of €) 
As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

EMEA                147,132              84,647              69,318  

- of which in Italy                139,595              82,761              66,117  



 

 

 

NORTH AMERICA                   80,977              38,801              31,303  

- of which in Mexico                  50,945              29,391              24,028  

- of which in United States                  30,032                9,410                7,275  

ASIA                   12,101                 5,766                        -    

- of which in China                  12,101                 5,766                       -    

 Trade payables 240,210 129,214 100,621 

 

(21) OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  

 

The following table provides a breakdown for other current liabilities: 

 

(in thousands of €) As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Advance from clients 13,793 7,369 2,429 

Accrued expenses  7,583 2,982 2,313 

Payables to employees  7,291 5,814 5,150 

Payables for other taxes  4,005 3,091 3,008 

Other payables  1,410 770 562 

Social security payables                 1,181                 1,096                 1,051 

Total other current liabilities  35,263  21,122   14,513  
 

(22) CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 

 

The following table provides a breakdown for current tax liabilities: 

in thousands of € As of December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

IRES – income tax                2,006                   248                   486 

IRAP – regional income tax                   409                        7                   246 

Total Current Tax Liabilities 2,415 255 732 

 



 

 

 

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

(23) REVENUES 

The Group generates revenues primarily from the sale of rotor, stator, spare parts and tooling. The 

following table provides a breakdown for revenues by product line: 

(in thousands of €) 
For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

EV & Automotive 195,596 147,580 112,204 

Industrial 361,308 225,710 239,870 

Total Revenues 556,904 373,290 352,074 

 

(24) CHANGE IN WORK IN PROGRESS, SEMI-FINISHED AND FINISHED PRODUCT INVENTORIES 

The following table provides a breakdown for the caption:  

(in thousands of €) 
For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Change in work in progress finished product 

inventories 
9,045 (3,611) 2,563 

Change in work in progress, semi-finished 4,321 274 (266) 

Inventory obsolescence provision (2,738) (800) - 

Change in work in progress, semi-finished and 

finished product inventories 
10,628 (4,137) 2,297 

 

(25) COSTS FOR PURCHASES OF RAW MATERIALS 

The following table provides a breakdown for cost for purchases of raw materials: 

(in thousands of €) 
For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Purchase of raw materials and finished 

products 
342,465 216,478 204,005 

Purchase of material consumables 9,252 7,430 7,092 

Inventory obsolescence provision 20 24 32 

Costs for purchases of raw materials 351,737 223,932 211,129 

 

(26) COSTS FOR EXTERNAL SERVICES 

The following table provides a breakdown for costs for external services: 

(in thousands of €) 
For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Maintenance 14,344 9,699 8,258 

Outsourced work 12,723 10,514 9,801 

Energy 11,938 6,603 7,143 

Transport 10,011 8,125 7,278 

General expenses 4,218 3,858 3,443 

Directors' remunerations 3,281 2,161 1,916 

Recruitment cost  3,090  2,155  1,999 

Rents and leases  572  847  729 
of which short-term: 474    588 504  

of which low values:  98     259  225    

Consultancy fees  2,891 1,930 1,146 

Legal, notary and administrative expenses 2,453 1,032 1,182 

Commissions 1,875 1,751 2,159 

Insurance 1,512 1,208 1,159 

Other costs for external services 2,614 1,973 2,346 

Costs for external services  71,522 51,856 48,559 
 

Other services mainly include security and cleaning costs, travel expenses and marketing expenses. 
 

(27) PERSONNEL COSTS 

The following table provides for a breakdown for personnel costs: 



 

 

 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Wages and salaries 67,594 55,937 52,973 

Social security costs 14,554 12,085 10,794 

Allocation of Defined Benefit Plan 2,486 2,043 2,036 

Share award expenses 3,698 1,271 356 

Other payroll costs 219 93 1,509 

Personnel Costs 88,551 71,429 67,668 

 

The Group, through its subsidiary Eurotranciatura has granted to four employees with strategic 

responsibilities the minority interest representing the 5% of the share capital of EMS. The arrangement 

provides an obligation for the employees to pay the consideration for the share in yearly instalments over 

a ten-year period. The effectiveness of the annual purchase of the shares (vested shares) is subject to 

the permanence of the employees within the Group during the ten years period (vesting period). The 

arrangements also provide that the employee is entitled to receive dividends that eventually will be 

distributed over the vesting period even for the shares not yet delivered to the employee and retained 

by the Group (unvested shares). If the employee leaves the Group’s employment during the service 

period (bad leaver), the vested shares may be returned to Group, upon its discretion, at the same 

purchase price.  

Below is a summary of the changes in the share award plan: 

Number of shares 2021 2020 2019 

Outstanding as of January 1 69,840 81,480 93,120 

Granted during the year - - - 

Vested during the year 11,640 11,640 11,640 

Expired during the year - - - 

Outstanding as of December 31 58,200 69,840 81,480 

The fair value of the shares has been determined by using a valuation technique whose main inputs are 

as follows: 

 2021 2020 2019 

Share price 128.40 60.67 39.81 

Exercise price 23.63 23.63 23.63 

 

The following are the information concerning the personnel: 

 

 2021 2020 2019 

Directors           26            24            27  

Senior Managers           53            45            41  

White Collars        530         442         334  

Blue Collars     1,446      1,319      1,366  

Total average     2,055      1,830      1,768  

 

 

(28) OTHER EXPENSES 

The following table provides for a breakdown for other expenses: 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Prior year expenses 721 725 344 

Penalty charges 420 597 222 

Consumption taxes and excise duties 365 299 303 

Other expenses 288 279 307 

Other provisions 267 538 400 

Provision for risks 94 13 - 

Capital loss from asset disposals 29 5 3 

(Reversal)/Allocation to provision for doubtful debt (93) 1,382 (198) 

Other Expenses 2,091 3,838 1,381 

 



 

 

 

(29) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSES 

The following table provides a breakdown for depreciation and amortization expenses: 

(in thousands of €) 

Class 

For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Property, plant and equipment  16,414 13,410  13,802  

Right-of-use assets 6,427 4,539  3,345  

Intangible assets with a finite useful life 428 364  419 

Total depreciation and amortization of assets 23,269 18,313  17,566 

 

(30) FINANCIAL INCOME 

The following table provides for a breakdown for financial income: 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Derivative financial instruments FVTPL 462 72 65 

Other financial income 212 240 503 

Financial income from Parent Company 84 68 84 

Interest income from banks 68 91 48 

Financial income for employee benefit – TFR 23 13 9 

Financial income from other investor  - 952 - 

Total financial income 849 1,436 709 

 

(31) FINANCIAL COSTS 

The following table provides for a breakdown for financial costs: 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Interest on borrowings 3,692  3,537  3,151  

Financial expenses from other investor 1,655  1,038  1,347  

Interest expenses to factors 1,068 335 124 

Interest for lease liabilities 769 561 440 

Derivative financial instruments 263 522 280 

Other financial costs 229  264  - 

Total financial costs 7,676  6,257  5,342  

 

(32) EXCHANGE (LOSSES)/GAINS 

The following table provides for a breakdown for exchange losses and gains: 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Exchange gains  1,356 81 245 

Exchange losses (275) (1,443) (228) 

Total Exchange gains/(losses) 1,081 (1,362) 17 

 

(33) INCOME TAXES 

 

(in thousands of €) December 31 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

IRES Italian Income taxes               1,371                   131                1,026  

IRAP Regional Income taxes               1,097                   230                   555  

Taxes other countries 3,023 4,020 1,260 

Tax previous years                  115                   (38)                  (64) 

Deferred tax               3,376           (11,427)             (2,803) 

Total tax 8,982              (7,084)                  (26) 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if it can be demonstrated that their payment is improbable or 

not due. Deferred tax assets are recognised if their recovery is reasonably certain. All the measurements 



 

 

 

referred to above were conducted on a going concern basis. 

The table below provides a reconciliation between actual income taxes and the theoretical income 

taxes, calculated on the basis of the applicable group’s average tax rate, which was 25.3 percent for 

each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019: 

 

(in thousands of €) For the year ended December 31, 

Class 2021 2020 2019 

Profit / (Loss) before taxes 29,673 (4,762) 3,994 

Theoretical income tax benefit/(expense) — average tax 

rate 
(7,492) 1,202 (1,008) 

Tax effect on:    

Taxes relating to prior years (115) 38 64 

Non-deductible costs 112 94 848 

Other tax items 810 545 205 

Deferred taxes (3,376)  11,427 2,803 

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other 

jurisdictions 
2,176 (6,452) (3,441) 

Total tax expense, excluding IRAP (7,885) 6,854 (529) 

Effective average tax rate 26.57% (143.93)% 13.24% 

Italian regional income tax expense (IRAP) (1,097) 230 555 

Total income tax (8,982) 7,084 26 

 

In order to facilitate the understanding of the tax rate reconciliation presented above, income tax 

expense has been presented net of other taxes paid abroad and of the Italian Regional Income Tax 

(“IRAP”). IRAP is calculated on a measure of income defined by the Italian Civil Code as the difference 

between operating revenues and costs, before financial income and expense, the cost of fixed term 

employees, credit losses and any interest included in lease payments. IRAP is calculated using financial 

information prepared under Italian accounting standards. The applicable IRAP rate was 3.9 percent for 

the other Italian components, for each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. 

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets related to tax losses. 

 

At the reporting date, the Group has unused tax losses of €3,752 thousand (2020: €8,376 thousand; 2019: 

€1,371 thousand) available for offsetting against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised 

in respect of €825 thousand (2020: €1,954 thousand; 2019: €372 thousand) of such losses. 

 

(34) EARNINGS PER SHARE  

Basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated as the ratio of net profit or (loss) attributable to 

the shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of outstanding shares (basic and 

diluted) of the Company. 

The following table summarizes the amounts used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share: 

(in thousands of € and number of shares) 
For the year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 

Profit attributable to the Group (A) 18,752 2,200 3,660 

Number of shares at start of the year 6,111,940 4,500,000 4,500,000 

Number of shares at end of the year 6,111,940 6,111,940 4,500,000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS (B) 6,111,940 5,305,970 4,500,000 

Basic earnings per share (Euro) I=(A)/(B)           3.07             0.41            0.81  

Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as there were no potentially dilutive 

instruments for the periods presented. 

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

 

Credit risk 

The Group is exposed to a credit risk that its customers may delay or fail to fulfill their payment 

requirements in terms agreed and the internal procedures adopted in relation to the assessment of credit 

risk and customer solvency are not sufficient.  

These risks could have negative effects on the Group’s economic, financial and equity situation. 

To mitigate this risk, the Group monitors the credit quality of the third-parties on the basis of internal or 

external ratings and sets credit limits subject to regular monitoring. The customers are all major players in 



 

 

 

the sectors in which the Group is active, and credit risk is concentrated on only a small percentage of 

smaller customers.   

It occurs that the Group uses factoring instruments to collect certain type of trade receivables.  

The following table contains a breakdown of third-party trade receivables by overdue category: 

(in thousands of €) 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

Receivables Provisions Receivables Provisions Receivables Provisions 

Not yet due 76,788 (64) 45,885 (41) 48,689 (43) 

0-60 days overdue 12,814 (95) 6,164 (55) 9,613 (63) 

60-180 days overdue 3,385 (182) 1,354 (68) 2,838 (85) 

> 180 days overdue 11,939 (7,566) 14,146 (7,657) 12,048 (6,788) 

Total trade 

receivables 
104,926 (7,907) 67,549 (7,821) 73,188 (6,979) 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group is exposed to the risk of not being able to obtain new borrowings or to get renewal of existing 

ones at conditions that are not worse than the existing ones, or it could default on the commitments 

(covenants) assumed in the existing loan agreements. Furthermore, the breach of covenants provided 

in some existing loan agreements could in some cases, to lead (due to cross default clauses) to the 

forfeiture of benefit of the term, respect to other loan agreements. The occurrence of these risks could 

have significant negative effects on the Group’s economic and financial situation. 

In consideration of the net financial position and the ability to generate positive cash flows from 

operating activities, the liquidity risk is assessed, in the economic situation in which the Group is at the 

time of approval of these financial statements, as low. The Group has credit lines granted by the banking 

system, which are adequate with respect to operational needs. 

The Group’s cash flows, financing requirements and liquidity are carefully monitored and managed by: 

- maintaining an appropriate level of available liquidity; 

- diversifying the methods used to raise financial resources; 

- arranging appropriate credit facilities; 

- monitoring prospective liquidity conditions, in relation to the business planning process. 

(in thousands of €) 
December 

31, 2021 

Total cash 

flows 

Less than 1 

year 

Between 1 

and 5 

years 

> 5 years 

Non-current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 

134,997 134,997 - 100,051 

 

34,946 

Non-current lease liabilities 47,568 47,568 - 19,362 28,206 

Total Non-Current Financial Liabilities 182,565 182,565 - 119,413 63,152 

Current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 

50,788 50,788 50,788 - - 

Current portion of non-current financial 

liabilities and borrowings 

46,747 46,747 46,747 - - 

Current lease liabilities 7,768 7,768 7,768 - - 

Total Current Financial Liabilities 105,303 105,303 105,303 - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 287,868 287,868 105,303 119,413 63,152 

 

(in thousands of €) 
December 

31, 2020 

Total cash 

flows 

Less than 1 

year 

Between 

1 and 5 

years 

> 5 years 

Non-current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
129,548 129,548 - 91,764 37,784 

Non-current lease liabilities 36,564 36,564 - 12,514 24,050 

Total Non-Current Financial Liabilities 166,112 166,112 - 104,278 61,834 

Current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 

56,679 56,679 56,679 - - 

Current portion of non-current financial 

liabilities and borrowings 

28,503 28,503 28,503 - - 

Current lease liabilities 4,763 4,763 4,763 - - 

Total Current Financial Liabilities 89,945 89,945 89,945 - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 256,057 256,057 89,945 104,278 61,834 

 

(in thousands of €) 
December 

31, 2019 

Total cash 

flows 

Less than 1 

year 

Between 1 

and 5 

years 

> 5 years 



 

 

 

Non-current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
75,546 75,546 - 51,728 23,818 

Non-current lease liabilities 19,485 19,485 - 7,856 11,629 

Total Non-Current Financial Liabilities 95,031 95,031 - 59,584 35,447 

Current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 

81,583 81,583 81,583 - - 

Current portion of non-current financial 

liabilities and borrowings 

32,560 32,560 32,560 - - 

Current lease liabilities 2,902 2,902 2,902 - - 

Total Current Financial Liabilities 117,045 117,045 117,045 - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 212,076 212,076 117,045 59,584 35,447 

The factors which mainly influence the Group’s liquidity are the resources generated or absorbed by 

current operating and investing activities, the possible distribution of dividends, the maturity or 

refinancing of debt and the management of surplus cash. Liquidity needs or surpluses are monitored on 

a daily basis by the Parent Company in order to guarantee effective sourcing of financial resources or 

adequate investment of excess liquidity. 

The negotiation and management of credit lines is coordinated by the Parent Company with the aim of 

satisfying the short and medium-term financing needs of the individual companies within the Group 

according to efficiency and cost-effectiveness criteria. It has always been the Group’s policy to sign and 

constantly maintain with various and diversified banks a total amount of committed credit lines that is 

considered consistent with the needs of the individual companies and suitable to ensure at any time the 

liquidity needed to satisfy and comply with all the Group’s financial commitments, at the established 

economic conditions, as well as guaranteeing the availability of an adequate level of operational 

flexibility for any expansion programs. 

 

Interest rate risk 

The Group is subject to the risk of fluctuations in the interest rate relating to the indebtedness. Any 

changes in interest rates (EURIBOR) could have effects with increase or reduction of financing costs. 

 

(in thousands of €)  
December 31, 2021  

Outstanding 

debts  % total  Within one 

year  % total  Over a year  % total  

Total fixed rate financial liability  143,602 61.76% 82,547 84.63% 61,055 45.23% 
Total variable rate financial liability  88,930 38.24% 14,988 15.37% 73,942 54.77% 
Total outstanding debts  232,532 100% 97,535 100% 134,997 100% 
Interest to be paid on variable rate not 

covered by derivative  
492 

 
460 

 
32 

 

Interest to be paid as a result of the change 

(+2%) in base reference rate  
6,197  2,481  3,716  

  

(in thousands of €)  
December 31, 2020  

Outstanding 

debts  % total  Within one 

year  % total  Over a year  % total  

Total fixed rate financial liability  128,294 59.75% 72,420 85.02% 55,874 43.13% 
Total variable rate financial liability  86,436 40.25% 12,762 14.98% 73,674 56.87% 
Total outstanding debts  214,730 100% 85,182 100% 129,548 100% 
Interest to be paid on variable rate not 

covered by derivative  
405 

 
164 

 
241 

 

Interest to be paid as a result of the change 

(+2%) in base reference rate  
6,652  3,085  3,567  

  

(in thousands of €)  
December 31, 2019  

Outstanding 

debts  % total  Within one 

year  % total  Over a year  % total  

Total fixed rate financial liability  155,379 81.91% 99,514 87.18% 55,865 73.95% 
Total variable rate financial liability  34,310 18.09% 14,629 12.82% 19,681 26.05% 
Total outstanding debts  189,689 100% 114,143 100% 75,546 100% 
Interest to be paid on variable rate not 

covered by derivative  
761 

 
382 

 
379 

 

Interest to be paid as a result of the change 

(+2%) in base reference rate  
5,799  4,235  1,564  

 

  



 

 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to 

exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group does not adopt specific policies to hedge exchange rate 

fluctuations as in order to mitigate the exposure to foreign exchange risk, the Group mainly carries out 

purchase and sale transactions in the same local currency therefore foreign exchange risk is low. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 

liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: 

(in thousands of €) 
As of December, 31 2021 

USD CNY RUB JPY Total 

Total assets 8,176 157 239 152 8,724 

Total liabilities 6,709 464 623 10,113 17,909       

(in thousands of €) 
As of December, 31 2020 

USD CNY RUB JPY Total 

Total assets 11,759 504 190 - 12,453 

Total liabilities 5,037 248 85 11,083 16,453       

(in thousands of €) 
As of December, 31 2019 

USD CNY RUB JPY Total 

Total assets 7,127 71 52 - 7,250 

Total liabilities 3,716 5 165 3,511 7,397 

 

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 per cent increase and decrease in currency units 

against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 

denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 10 per cent change in 

foreign currency rates. 

 

(in thousands of €) 
Year ended December 31, 

2021 2020 2019 
 FX +10% FX-10% FX +10% FX-10% FX +10% FX-10% 

USD - U.S. Dollar (133) 163 (611) 747 (310) 379 

CNY - Chinese Renminbi (Yuan) 28 (34) (23) 28 (6) 7 

JPY - Japanese Yen 906 (1,107) 1,008 (1,231) 319 (390) 

RUB - Russian Ruble 35 (43) (10) 12 10 (13) 

Total other currencies 836 (1,021) 364 (444) 13 (17) 

Total effect on Profit before Tax 836 (1,021) 364 (444) 13 (17) 

 

Financial assets and liabilities 

 

The following table combines information about: 

• Classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics 

• The carrying amounts of financial instruments 

• Fair values of financial instruments (except financial instruments when carrying amount 

approximates their fair value) 

• Fair value hierarchy levels of financial assets and financial liabilities for which fair value was 

disclosed 

 

Fair value hierarchy levels 1 to 3 are based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 

(i.e. derived from prices) 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 

for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

The table below shows the financial assets and liabilities for applied evaluation methodology: 

 
(in thousands of €) Financial assets and liabilities Fair value level 

December 31, 2021 FVPL FVOCI 
Amortise

d cost 
Total 1 2 3 

Financial assets (note 5) - 12,025 5,772 17,797 4,514 5,810 7,473 

Trade receivables (note 9) - - 97,019 97,019  97,019  

Other assets (note 7 and 10) - - 29,001 29,001  29,001  



 

 

 

Cash and cash  

equivalents (note 12) 
- - 137,662 137,662  137,662  

Total financial assets - 12,025 269,454 281,479 4,514 269,492 7,473 

Financial liabilities and  

borrowings (note 15) 
- 158 232,374 232,532  232,532 - 

Lease liabilities (note 16) - - 55,336 55,336  55,336 - 

Trade payables (note 20) - - 240,210 240,210  240,210 - 

Other liabilities (note 19 and 

21) 
3,937 - 41,232 45,169  41,232 3,937 

Total financial liabilities 3,937 158 569,152 573,247 - 569,310 3,937 

 
(in thousands of €) Financial assets and liabilities Fair value level 

December 31, 2020 FVPL FVOCI 
Amortise

d cost 
Total 1 2 3 

Financial assets (note 5) - 7,128 5,755 12,883 2,890 5,755 4,238 

Trade receivables (note 9) -  59,728 59,728  59,728  

Other assets (note 7 and 

10) 
-  13,793 13,793  13,793  

Cash and cash 

equivalents (note 12) 
-  107,655 107,655  107,655  

Total financial assets - 7,128 186,931 194,059 2,890 186,931 4,238 

Financial liabilities and 

borrowings (note 15) 
- 569 214,161 214,730  214,730  

Lease liabilities (note 16) - - 41,327 41,327  41,327  

Trade payables (note 20) - - 129,214 129,214  129,214  

Other liabilities (note 19 

and 21) 
1,459 - 24,448 25,907  24,448 1,459 

Total financial liabilities 1,459 569 409,150 411,178 - 409,719 1,459 

 
(in thousands of €) Financial assets and liabilities Fair value level 

December 31, 2019 FVPL FVOCI 
Amortise

d cost 
Total 1 2 3 

Financial assets (note 5) - 5,581 4,320 9,901 2,337 4,320 3,244 

Trade receivables (note 9) -  66,209 66,209  66,209  

Other assets (note 7 and 

10) 

-  12,185 12,185  12,185  

Cash and cash 

equivalents (note 12) 

-  44,839 44,839  44,839  

Total financial assets - 5,581 127,553 133,134 2,337 127,553 3,244 

Financial liabilities and 

borrowings (note 15) 

- 
308 189,381 189,689  189,689  

Lease liabilities (note 16) -  22,387 22,387  22,387  

Trade payables (note 20) -  100,621 100,621  100,621  

Other liabilities (note 19 

and 21) 
619  15,853 16,472   15,853 619 

Total financial liabilities 619 308 328,242 329,169 - 328,550 619 

 

 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments 

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the periods ended 31 December 2021, 2020 

and 2019: 

 

(in thousands of €) 
Equity investments –  

EMS shares 
Share award liability 

Balance at 1 January 2020 3,244 (619) 

Total gains or losses:   

in profit or loss  (1,271) 

in other comprehensive income 1,700  

Settlements (706) 431 

Balance at 1 January 2021 4,238 (1,459) 

Total gains or losses:   

in profit or loss  (3,698) 

in other comprehensive income 4,730  

Settlements (1,495) 1,220 

Balance at 31 December 2021 7,473 (3,937) 

 



 

 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

In accordance with IAS 24, related parties are: a) entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more 

intermediaries, control, are controlled by, or are under common control with, the reporting entity; b) 

associates; c) individuals who directly or indirectly have voting power in the reporting entity that gives 

them significant influence over the entity, and their close family members; d) members of the key 

management personnel, i.e. those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the reporting entity, including the entity’s directors or managers and the close 

family members of such persons; e) entities in which significant voting power is held directly or indirectly 

by any individual described in c) or d) above or over which that individual is able to exercise significant 

influence. The case of e) above includes entities owned by directors or controlling shareholders of the 

reporting entity and entities that have key management personnel in common with the reporting entity.  

The table below, shows, a list of related parties, with the type of correlation: 

Related parties Type and main correlation relationship 

EMS S.P.A. Shareholder of the issuer 

EUROTRANCIATURA S.P.A. Company 100% owned by the issuer 

CORRADA S.P.A. Company 100% owned by the issuer 

EUROTRANCIATURA MÉXICO, S. A. DE C. V Company71.24% owned by the issuer 

EUROPROPERTIES MEXICO S.A. DE C.V. Company 100% owned by the issuer 

SAF S.P.A. Company 50% owned by the issuer 

EUROTRANCIATURA TUNISIE Company 51% owned by the issuer 

EMS MEXICO SA DE CV Company 71.24% owned by the issuer 

EUROSLOT TOOLS S.r.l. Company 60% owned by the issuer 

EURO GROUP LAMINATIONS RUSSIA LLC Company 100% owned by the issuer 

EUROTRANCIATURA USA LLC Company 64.12% owned by the issuer 

EUROPROPERTIES USA LLC Company 100% owned by the issuer 

EURO MISI LAMINATIONS JIAXING CO. LTD Company 41.58% owned by the issuer 

EURO GROUP ASIA LIMITED Company 60,26% owned by the issuer 

EURO HIGHTECH S.A. DE C.V Company 70.90% owned by the issuer 

EUROGROUP LEVERAGE LENDER LLC Company 100% owned by the issuer 

Physical persons 

Iori Sergio 
Chairman of the issuer’s Board of Directors appointed on September 08, 

2020 

Arduini Marco Stefano CEO of the issuer, appointed on September 08, 2020 

Guardala Isidoro Deputy Chairman appointed on September 08, 2020 

Iori Marzio Andrea 
Adviser of the issuer’s Board of Directors, appointed on September 08, 

2020 

Quagliuolo Roberto Francesco 
Adviser of the issuer’s Board of Directors, appointed on September 08, 

2020 

Gales Jean-Marc Pierre 
Adviser of the issuer’s Board of Directors, appointed on September 08, 

2020 

Bertocchi Gianluca Umberto Maria 
Adviser of the issuer’s Board of Directors, appointed on September 08, 

2020 

Garavaglia Luigi Emilio 
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors, appointed on September 

08, 2020 

Alabiso Francesco Effective statutory auditor in charge, appointed on September 08, 2020 

Venruini Maria Effective statutory auditor in charge, appointed on September 08, 2020 

Gandola Giancarlo 
Alternate statutory auditor in charge appointed, appointed on 

September 08, 2020 

Sironi Roberta 
Alternate statutory auditor in charge appointed, appointed on 

September 08, 2020 

 

The Group carries out transactions with related parties on commercial terms that are normal in the 

respective markets, considering the characteristics of the goods or services involved. 

Transactions carried out by the Group with these related parties are of commercial and financial 

nature and, in particular, these transactions relate to: 

 

Related parties 
Parent 

Company 

SAF 

S.p.A. 

Euro MISI 

Laminations 
Total Total item 

Incidence 

on total 

item 

(in thousands of €)  

Right-of-use assets       

As of December 31, 2021 28,393 - - 28,393 61,993 45.80% 

As of December 31, 2020 29,443 - - 29,443 44,004 66.91% 

As of December 31, 2019 15,392 - - 15,392 23,811 64.64% 



 

 

 

Non-current financial assets       

As of December 31, 2021 5,600 - - 5,600 17,797 31.47% 

As of December 31, 2020 5,600 - - 5,600 12,883 43.47% 

As of December 31, 2019 - - 4,192 4,192 9,901 42.34% 

Trade receivables       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - 97,019 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - 193 - 193 59,728 0.32% 

As of December 31, 2019 - 234 888 1,122 66,209 1.69% 

Non-current lease liabilities       

As of December 31, 2021 26,139 - - 26,139 47,568 54.95% 

As of December 31, 2020 27,159 - - 27,159 36,564 74.28% 

As of December 31, 2019 13,622 - - 13,622 19,485 69.91% 

Other non-current liabilities       

As of December 31, 2021 5,445 - - 5,445 9,906 54.97% 

As of December 31, 2020 2,967 - - 2,967 4,785 62.01% 

As of December 31, 2019 2,127 - - 2,127 2,229 95.42% 

Current lease liabilities       

As of December 31, 2021 2,533 - - 2,533 7,768 32.61% 

As of December 31, 2020 2,377 - - 2,377 4,763 49.91% 

As of December 31, 2019 1,849 - - 1,849 2,902 63.71% 

Trade payables       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - 240,210 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - 467 - 467 129,214 0.36% 

As of December 31, 2019 - 424 25 449 100,621 0.45% 

Revenues       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - 556,904 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - 628 - 628 373,290 0.17% 

As of December 31, 2019 - 896 421 1,317 352,074 0.37% 

Other income       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - 2,211 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - 14 - 14 1,826 0.77% 

As of December 31, 2019 - 17 65 82 1,663 4.93% 

Costs for purchases of raw materials       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - (351,737) 

 

0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - (1,325) - (1,325) (223,392) 0.59% 

As of December 31, 2019 - (1,370) (74) (1,444) (211,129) 0.68% 

Costs for external services       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - (71,522) 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - (82) - (82) (51,856) 0.16% 

As of December 31, 2019 - (125) - (125) (48,559) 0.26% 

Personnel costs       

As of December 31, 2021 (3,698) - - (3,698) (88,551) 4.18% 

As of December 31, 2020 (1,271) - - (1,271) (71,429) 1.78% 

As of December 31, 2019 (357) - - (357) (67,668) 0.53% 

Other expenses       

As of December 31, 2021 - - - - (2,090) 0.00% 

As of December 31, 2020 - (22) - (22) (3,838) 0.57% 

As of December 31, 2019 - (25) - (25) (1,381) 1.81% 

Depreciation and amortization expenses       

As of December 31, 2021 (2,678) - - (2,678) (23,269) 11.51% 

As of December 31, 2020 (2,271) - - (2,271) (18,313) 12.40% 

As of December 31, 2019 (1,981) - - (1,981) (17,566) 11.28% 

Financial income       

As of December 31, 2021 84 - - 84 849 9.89% 

As of December 31, 2020 68 - - 68 1,436 4.74% 

As of December 31, 2019 84 - 9 93 709 13.12% 

Financial costs       

As of December 31, 2021 (435) - - (435) (7,675) 5.67% 

As of December 31, 2020 (355) - - (355) (6,257) 5.67% 

As of December 31, 2019 (325) - - (325) (5,342) 6.08% 

 

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Pursuant to IAS 24—Related Party Disclosures, the related parties of the Group are all entities and 

individuals capable of exercising control, joint control or significant influence over the Group and its 

subsidiaries. In addition, members of the Board of Directors and executives with strategic responsibilities 



 

 

 

and their families are also considered related parties. The following tables summarize remuneration of 

directors, key executives with strategic responsibilities: 
Key management personnel 

  Compensation Outstanding Balance 

  
Short Term employee 

benefits 
Share purchase plan 

Other non current 

liabilities 

2021  3,281  3,698 3,937 

2020  2,161  1,271 1,459 

2019  1,916  357 619 

 

GUARANTEES GIVEN AND OTHER CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS 

The following table reports commitments, guarantees and potential liabilities not resulting from the 

balance sheet: 
Class December 31, 2021 

Bank guarantees given in the interest of the companies of the Group 74,167 

Financial commitments and risks: 96 

Commitments 96 

Commitment to the municipality of Baranzate 96 

Guarantees of €74,167 thousand refer mainly to guarantees issued with regard to sureties and other 

guarantees issued in the favor of subsidiaries. 

The item Commitments includes the amount of the commitment given to the municipality of Baranzate 

related to the design and testing costs for the construction of the new public parking area with lights and 

signs. 

 

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS 

The Group has assigned to the Board of Statutory Auditors, appointed in accordance with Civil Code 

Article 2400, solely the functions contemplated in Article 2403, paragraph 1. The Board of Statutory 

Auditors' remuneration for 2021 is €112 thousand.  

With regard to the emoluments attributed to the directors in 2021 the compensation paid amounted to 

€3,281 thousand.  

In the year under review, the Group did not grant advances or credits to the directors and members of 

the Board of Statutory Auditors, nor did it undertake any commitment on their behalf or provide any 

guarantee.  



 

 

 

TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)  

 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 are the first financial 

statements prepared by the Group in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Board of Accounting 

Standards (IASB) and the interpretations of the International Committee for the Interpretation of 

Accounting Standards (International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation Committee, formerly 

IFRIC) and the former Standing Committee on interpretations (SIC) (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS”), 

approved by the European Union pursuant to the entry into force of Regulation (EC) No 1249/96 

1606/2002 issued by the European Parliament and the European Council in July 2002. 

The initial date of adoption of IFRS (referred to in this document as the “Transition Date”) was established 

on January 1, 2019, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 1. This note explains 

the main adjustments made by the Group in restating its Italian GAAP (“ITA GAAP”) financial statements, 

for the year ended 31 December 2021, 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. 

 

General policies 

In accordance with IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, a 

Statement of Financial Position was prepared at the Transition Date in which: 

• all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by the IFRS have been recognised and 

measured, including those not envisaged under ITA GAAP; 

• all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by ITA GAAP but not allowed under IFRS 

have been eliminated; 

• some items in the financial statements have been reclassified in accordance with IFRS. 

The IFRS adjustments as of January 1, 2019 have been recognised in equity, within the First Time Adoption 

reserve (“FTA reserve”).  

For the purpose of explaining the effects of the Transition Process on the Group's consolidated financial 

statements, the following additional disclosures have been prepared: 

A. Basis of presentation as a first-time adopter of IFRS; 

B. reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position prepared in accordance with 

the ITA GAAP with those prepared in accordance with IFRS at the Transition Date, as of 

December 31, 2019, as of December 31, 2020 and as of December 31, 2021; 

C. reconciliation of the consolidated statements of profit or loss in accordance with the ITA GAAP 

with those prepared in accordance with the IFRS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021; 

D. reconciliation of the consolidated statement of cash flows prepared in accordance with the ITA 

GAAP with those prepared in accordance with IFRS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021; 

E. reconciliation of consolidated equity stated in accordance with the ITA GAAP with the 

consolidated equity restated under IFRS at the Transition Date, as of December 31, 2019, as of 

December 31, 2020 and as of December 31, 2021; 

F. Explanation of the reclassifications and restatements included in the above-mentioned 

reconciliation schedules, which describe the significant effects of the transition, with regard to 

both the classification of the various items in the consolidated financial statements and their 

different valuation and, therefore, the related effects on the consolidated statement of financial 

position and on the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income; 

 

A. Basis of presentation as a first-time adopter of IFRS; 

Notes regarding the IFRS first-time adoption rules 

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 have been 

prepared in accordance with the IFRS effective for periods beginning on January 1, 2019.  

In the IFRS Transition Process, the previous estimates made under ITA GAAP were not adjusted unless IFRS 



 

 

 

adoption required formulating estimates under different methodologies to reflect differences in 

accounting policies. The restatements to equity affected the accounting values of assets and liabilities 

but not their tax bases which, consequently, gave rise to the recognition of deferred taxation. 

Exemptions applied 

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain 

requirements under IFRS. The Group has applied the following exemptions: 

- Lease: the Group assessed all contracts existing as of January 1, 2019 to determine whether a 

contract contains a lease based upon the conditions in place as of January 1, 2019; with regard 

to the recognition and measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, when the Group 

is a lease, the Group has applied the following approach: 

• lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 

discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019.  

• Right of Use assets are measured at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the 

amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position immediately before January 1, 2019.  

• The lease payments associated with leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months 

of the date of transition to IFRS and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value have 

been recognised as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the lease term or another 

systematic basis; 

- Employee benefits: the Group has decided to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses 

calculated in accordance with IAS 19 existing at the Transition Date within FTA reserve; 

- Business combination: 

- Cumulative translation differences: the Group has decided to set cumulative translation 

differences to zero at the Transition Date. 

Estimates 

The estimates as of January 1, 2019, as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are consistent with those 

made for the same dates in accordance with ITA GAAP, after adjustments to reflect any differences in 

accounting policies, apart from the valuation of pensions and other post-employment benefits whose 

application of Local GAAP did not require estimation. 

 

The estimates used by the Group to present these amounts in accordance with IFRS reflect conditions as 

of January 1, 2019, as of December 31, 2019, as of December 31, 2020 and as of December 31, 2021. 

 

B. Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position prepared in accordance with the ITA 

GAAP with those prepared in accordance with IFRS at the Transition Date, as of December 31, 2019, 2020 

and 2021 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the balance sheet and financial statements as of 1 January 2019 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of  

January 1, 2019 

As of  

January 1, 2019 

Non-current assets           

Intangible assets c                  9,069  
                   

(1,868) 
            (5,896)                1,305  

Goodwill                   1,633  
                   

(1,633) 
                   -                         -    

Property, plant and 

equipment 
a                84,957                      1,713              (5,864)              80,806  

Right-of-use assets d                        -                        1,688              22,684               24,372  

Investments in associates  i                        -                              -                10,304               10,304  

Non-current financial 

assets 
e                  4,663                            -                  2,828                 7,491  

Other non-current assets I                  1,871                            -                   (321)                1,550  

Deferred tax assets                    2,653                         961                3,115                 6,729  

Total non-current assets                104,846                         861              26,850             132,557  

Current assets           



 

 

 

Inventories f              129,984  
                   

(1,588) 
            (1,359)            127,037  

Trade receivables h                61,748                      5,449              (8,780)              58,417  

Other current assets i                14,155                      3,600                 (830)              16,925  

Current tax receivables  3,463                           -                       -                   3,463  

Current financial assets                    5,216                            -                       -                   5,216  

Cash and cash 

equivalents 
i                29,574                            -                (5,095)              24,479  

Total current assets                244,140                      7,461            (16,064)            235,537  

TOTAL ASSETS                348,986                      8,322              10,786             368,094  

 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

January 1, 2019 

As of 

January 1, 

2019 

Equity      

Share capital                   4,500                            -                       -                   4,500  

Share premium reserve                         -                              -                       -                         -    

Other reserve                      608                            -                (3,875)              (3,267) 

Retained earnings                 55,345                            -                  1,912               57,257  

Equity attributable to the 

owners of the Company 
 60,453 - (1,963) 58,490 

Equity attributable to the 

non-controlling interests 
 20,753 - (16,171) 4,582 

Total Equity  81,206 - (18,134) 63,072 

Non-current liabilities      

Non-current financial 

liabilities and borrowings 
b 48,296 10,887 12,335 71,518 

Non-current lease liabilities d - 407 20,329 20,736 

Employee benefits g 4,553 - 304 4,857 

Provisions  1,355 (632) - 723 

Deferred tax liabilities  1,116 961 1,604 3,681 

Other non-current liabilities e 5,222 (2,897) (367) 1,958 

Total non-current liabilities  60,542 8,726 34,205 103,473 

Current liabilities      

Current financial liabilities 

and borrowings 
i 93,758 (513) (3,086) 90,159 

Current lease liabilities d - 405 2,355 2,760 

Trade payables i 98,833 (1,508) (3,429) 93,896 

Current tax liabilities  4,284 (4,225) (29) 30 

Other current liabilities i 10,363 5,437 (1,096) 14,704 

Total current liabilities  207,238 (404) (5,285) 201,549 

TOTAL EQUITY AND 

LIABILITIES 
 348,986 8,322 10,786 368,094 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the balance sheet and financial statements as of 31 December 2019 

Amounts in€/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

Non-current assets       

Intangible assets c                    12,210                     (3,507)                    (7,205)                      1,498  

Goodwill                       1,349                     (1,349)                           -                              -    

Property, plant and equipment a                  102,869                          981                   (14,822)                    89,028  

Right-of-use assets d                           -                         2,873                     20,938                     23,811  

Investments in associates  i                           -                              -                       11,305                     11,305  

Non-current financial assets e                      6,341                            -                         3,560                       9,901  

Other non-current assets i                      1,947                            -                          (316)                      1,631  

Deferred tax assets                        3,089                       1,630                       5,533                     10,252  

Total non-current assets                    127,805                          628                     18,993                   147,426  

Current assets           

Inventories f                  127,922                       1,502                     (1,550)                  127,874  

Trade receivables h                    64,556                     11,069                     (9,416)                    66,209  

Other current assets i                      7,341                       2,511                          702                     10,554  

Current tax receivables                       5,208                            -                              -                         5,208  

Current financial assets                        4,976                            -                              -                         4,976  

Cash and cash equivalents i                    50,458                            -                       (5,619)                    44,839  

Total current assets                    260,461                     15,082                   (15,883)                  259,660  



 

 

 

TOTAL ASSETS                    388,266                     15,710                       3,110                   407,086  

 

Amounts in €/000 
Not

e 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of 

December 31, 

31/12/2019 

Equity      

Share capital  4,500  -    -    4,500  

Share premium reserve  -    -    -    -    

Other Reserves  613  -    (2,841) (2,228) 

Retained Earnings  68,349  -    (7,437) 60,912  

Equity attributable to the owners of 

the Company 
 73,462 - (10,278) 63,184 

Equity attributable to the non-

controlling interests 
 20,456 - (15,658) 4,798 

Total Equity  93,918 - (25,936) 67,982 

Non-current liabilities      

Non-current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
b 60,963 1,514 13,069 75,546 

Non-current lease liabilities d - 956 18,529 19,485 

Employee benefits g 4,362 - 725 5,087 

Provisions  1,526 (1,142) - 384 

Deferred tax liabilities  723 1,630 1,109 3,462 

Other non-current liabilities e 4,551 (2,545) 223 2,229 

Total non-current liabilities  72,125 413 33,655 106,193 

Current liabilities      

Current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
i 104,834 13,390 (4,081) 114,143 

Current lease liabilities d - 399 2,503 2,902 

Trade payables i 104,980 (1,484) (2,875) 100,621 

Current tax liabilities  3,463 (2,731) - 732 

Other current liabilities i 8,946 5,723 (154) 14,513 

Total current liabilities  222,223 15,297 (4,609) 232,911 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  388,266 15,710 3,110 407,086 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the balance sheet and financial statements as of 31 December 2020 

Amounts in€/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

Non-current assets           

Intangible assets c                  17,030                     (2,286)                (12,602)                    2,142  

Goodwill                        950                        (950)                         -                            -    

Property, plant and equipment a                150,280                     (3,419)                (31,818)                115,043  

Right-of-use assets d                         -                        6,655                   37,349                   44,004  

Investments in associates  i                         -                              -                     12,015                   12,015  

Non-current financial assets e                    8,837                            -                       4,046                   12,883  

Other non-current assets i                    1,261                            -                        (371)                       890  

Deferred tax assets                      6,677                      2,353                   13,380                   22,410  

Total non-current assets                  185,035                      2,353                   21,999                 209,387  

Current assets           

Inventories f                131,375                      4,299                   (2,928)                132,746  

Trade receivables h                  59,508                      7,753                   (7,533)                  59,728  

Other current assets i                    9,843                      2,898                        162                   12,903  

Current tax receivables                     2,730  -  -                    2,730  

Current financial assets                           -                              -                            -                            -    

Cash and cash equivalents i                115,230                            -                     (7,575)                107,655  

Total current assets                  318,686                    14,950                 (17,874)                315,762  

TOTAL ASSETS                  503,721                    17,303                     4,125                 525,149  

 

Amounts in €/000 
Not

e 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

Equity      

Share capital                     6,112                            -                            -                       6,112  



 

 

 

Share premium reserve                   38,388                           -    
                        

(3,978) 
                 34,410  

Other Reserves                        648                            -                     (6,598)                  (5,950) 

Retained Earnings  79,923                           -                   (16,846)                  63,077  

Equity attributable to the owners of 

the Company 
 125,071 - (27,422) 97,649 

Equity attributable to the non-

controlling interests 
 26,206 - (19,899) 6,307 

Total Equity  151,277 - (47,321) 103,956 

Non-current liabilities      

Non-current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
b 111,844 4,754 12,950 129,548 

Non-current lease liabilities d - 2,792 33,772 36,564 

Employee benefits g 4,169 - 911 5,080 

Provisions  2,639 (2,255) - 384 

Deferred tax liabilities  1,135 2,353 808 4,296 

Other non-current liabilities e 5,566 (1,802) 1,021 4,785 

Total non-current liabilities  125,353 5,842 49,462 180,657 

Current liabilities      

Current financial liabilities and 

borrowings 
i 80,849 4,489 (156) 85,182 

Current lease liabilities d - 974 3,789 4,763 

Trade payables i 132,108 (1,420) (1,474) 129,214 

Current tax liabilities  3,116 (2,861) - 255 

Other current liabilities i 11,018 10,279 (175) 21,122 

Total current liabilities  227,091 11,461 1,984 240,536 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  503,721 17,303 4,125 525,149 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the balance sheet and financial statements as of 31 December 2021 

Amounts in Euro/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31,2021 

As of 

December 

31,2021 

Non-current assets      

Intangible assets c           14,065  
                        

(1,805) 

              

(9,820) 
            2,440  

Goodwill                 758  
                           

(758) 
                     -                      -    

Property, plant and equipment a         183,235  
                      

(12,367) 

            

(25,361) 
        145,507  

Right-of-use assets d                   -    
                        

14,930  

              

47,063  
          61,993  

Investments in associates i                   -                                   -                         -                      -    

Non-current financial assets e             8,693                                 -    
                

9,104  
          17,797  

Other non-current assets i             2,673  
                           

(766) 
                     -                1,907  

Deferred tax assets              9,539  
                             

639  

              

12,847  
          23,025  

Total non-current assets          218,963  
                           

(127) 

              

33,833  
        252,669  

Current assets          

Inventories f         205,018  
                        

10,412  
4,518         219,948  

Trade receivables h         101,804  
                           

(559) 

              

(4,226) 
          97,019  

Other current assets i           23,953  
                          

3,141  
                     -              27,094  

Current tax receivables              1,896                                 -                         -                1,896  

Current financial assets                    -                                   -                         -                      -    

Cash and cash equivalents i         137,662                                 -                         -            137,662  

Total current assets          470,333  
                        

12,994  
                292          483,619  

TOTAL ASSETS          689,296  
                        

12,867  

              

34,125  
        736,288  

 



 

 

 

Amount in €/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 
As of 

December 

31, 2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

Equity      

Share capital  6,112 - - 6,112  

Share premium reserve  38,388 - (3,978) 34,410  

Other Reserves  648 - 4,556 5,204  

Retained Earnings  97,455 - (15,626) 81,829  

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company  142,603 - (15,048) 127,555  

Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests  40,191 - (20,419) 19,772  

Total Equity  182,794 - (35,467) 147,327  

Non-current liabilities      

Non-current financial liabilities and borrowings b 127,435 (4,350) 11,912 134,997  

Non-current lease liabilities d - 5,376 42,192 47,568  

Employee benefits g 4,010 - 799 4,809  

Provisions  2,229 (1,827) - 402  

Deferred tax liabilities  4,042 640 3,406 8,088  

Other non-current liabilities e 8,412 (2,443) 3,937 9,906  

Total non-current liabilities  146,128 (2,604) 62,246 205,770  

Current liabilities     - 

Current financial liabilities and borrowings i 83,379 12,212 1,944 97,535  

Current lease liabilities d - 2,367 5,401 7,768  

Trade payables i 242,082 (1,872) - 240,210  

Current tax liabilities  5,964 (3,549) - 2,415  

Other current liabilities i 28,949 6,313 1 35,263  

Total current liabilities  360,374 15,471 7,346 383,191  

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  689,296 12,867             34,125 736,288  

  



 

 

 

C. Reconciliation of the consolidated statements of profit or loss in accordance with the ITA GAAP with 

those prepared in accordance with the IFRS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 

 

Effects of the transition ton IFRS on the income statement 31 December 2019 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

Revenues i 397,134  (30,932) (14,128) 352,074  

Other income i 2,309  (602) (44) 1,663  

Change in work in progress, semi-finished 

and finished product inventories 
f (167) -    2,464  2,297  

Work performed internally and capitalised   5,662  (3,898) (1,764) -    

Costs for purchase of raw materials   (246,809) 32,683  2,997  (211,129) 

Costs for external services  c-e (55,278) 1,122  5,597  (48,559) 

Personnel costs  c-e-g (71,203) 1,630  1,905  (67,668) 

Other expenses h-i (1,974) (133) 726  (1,381) 

Share of results of associates i -    -    (1,121) (1,121) 

Depreciation and amortization expenses a-c-d (17,519) 434  (481) (17,566) 

Operating Profit   12,155  304  (3,849) 8,610  

Financial income e 1,098  (304) (85) 709  

Financial costs   (4,362) -    (980) (5,342) 

Exchange gains/(losses)   17  -    -    17  

Profit / (Loss) before taxes   8,908  -    (4,914) 3,994  

Income taxes   (2,380) -    2,406  26  

Profit for the year   6,528  -    (2,508) 4,020  

Attributable to:      

Non-controlling interests   916  -    (556) 360  

Owners of the Company   5,612  -    (1,952) 3,660  

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the income statement 31 December 2020 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

Revenues i 417,193  (33,912) (9,991) 373,290  

Other income i 2,174  (335) (13) 1,826  

Change in work in progress, semi-finished 

and finished product inventories 
f (1,472) (800) (1,865) (4,137) 

Work performed internally and capitalised   6,413  (6,248) (165) -    

Costs for purchase of raw materials   (264,953) 38,348  2,673  (223,932) 

Costs for external services  c-e (57,710) 369  5,485  (51,856) 

Personnel costs  c-e-g (71,234) 1,771  (1,966) (71,429) 

Other expenses  h-i (3,601) 64  (301) (3,838) 

Share of results of associates i -    -    (190) (190) 

Depreciation and amortization expenses  a-c-d (19,931) 1,043  575  (18,313) 

Operating profit    6,879  300  (5,758) 1,421  

Financial income e 852  (300) 884  1,436  

Financial costs   (5,519) -    (738) (6,257) 

Exchange gains/(losses)   (1,362) -    -    (1,362) 

Profit / (Loss) before taxes   850  -    (5,612) (4,762) 

Income taxes   (1,235) -    8,319  7,084  

Profit for the year   (385) -    2,707  2,322  

Attributable to:      

Non-controlling interests   737  -    (615) 122  

Owners of the Company   (1,122) -    3,322  2,200  

 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on the income statement 31 December 2021 

 

Amounts in Euro/000 Note 

ITA GAAP 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

Revenues i 639,698  (76,835) (5,959) 556,904  

Other income a-i 4,956  (1,257) (1,488) 2,211  

Change in work in progress, semi-finished 

and finished product inventories 
f 7,588  (15) 3,055  10,628  



 

 

 

Work performed internally and capitalised  2,722  (2,722) -    -    

Costs for purchase of raw materials  (435,133) 79,366  4,030       (351,737) 

Costs for external services c-e (77,845) 293  6,030  (71,522) 

Personnel costs 
 c-e-

g 
(86,661) 588  (2,478) (88,551) 

Other expenses h-i (3,009) (281) 1,199  (2,091) 

Share of results of associates i -    -    2,846  2,846  

Depreciation and amortization expenses 
a-c-

d 
(29,236) 1,174  4,793  (23,269) 

Operating profit  23,080  311  12,028  35,419 

Financial income e 1,212  (311) (52) 849  

Financial costs  (6,092) -    (1,584) (7,676) 

Exchange gains/(losses)  1,081  -    -    1,081  

Profit / (Loss) before taxes  19,281  -    10,392  29,673  

Income taxes  (6,411) -    (2,571) (8,982) 

Profit for the year  12,870  -    7,821  20,691  

Attributable to:      

Non-controlling interests  2,486  -    (547)  1,939  

Owners of the Company  10,384  -    8,368  18,752  

 

D. Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of cash flows prepared in accordance with the ITA 

GAAP with those prepared in accordance with IFRS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 

2021 

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on cash flows as of December 31, 2019 

 

Amounts in €/000 

ITA GAAP 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year         29,574          (5,096)         24,478  

Net cash flow from operating activities (A)         27,076             3,296  (3,493) 26,879  

Net cash flow (used in) investment activities (B)       (31,021)   3,727  (27,294) 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (C)         24,830           (3,296) (2,886) 18,648  

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C)         20,885                  -    (2,652) 18,233  

Effect of changes in exchange rates                -                    -    2,128  2,128  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year         50,459                  -    (5,620) 44,839  

  

Effects of the transition to IFRS on cash flows as of December 31, 2020 

 

Amounts in €/000 

ITA GAAP 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

Reclassifications Adjustments 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 50,459   (5,620) 44,839  

Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 54,647  5,434  (3,870) 56,211  

Net cash flow (used in) investment activities (B) (40,454)  18,034  (22,420) 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (C) 50,578  (5,434) (11,160) 33,984  

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C) 64,771  -    3,004  67,775  

Effect of changes in exchange rates -    -    (4,959) (4,959) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 115,230  -    (7,575) 107,655  

 

Effects of the transition to IFRS on cash flows as of December 31, 2021 

 

Amounts in €/000 

ITA GAAP 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

Reclassific

ations 

Adjustm

ents 

IFRS 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 115,230   (7,575) 107,655  

Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 44,496  10,377  (6,464) 48,409  

Net cash flow (used in) investment activities (B) (57,685)  42,346  (15,339) 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (C) 35,621  (10,377) (30,183) (4,939) 

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C) 22,432  -    5,699  28,131  

Effect of changes in exchange rates -    -    1,876  1,876  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 137,662  -    - 137,662  

 

 



 

 

 

E. Reconciliation of consolidated equity stated in accordance with the ITA GAAP with the consolidated 

equity restated under IFRS at the Transition Date, as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 

 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

Equity as of 

December 

31, 2021 

Equity as of 

December 31, 

2020 

Equity as of 

December 31, 

2019 

Equity 

as of 

January 

1, 2019 

ITA GAAP  182,793 151,277 93,918 81,206  

Adjustments:      

Elimination of Property, plant and equipment 

revaluation 
a (17,570) (21,609) (5,432) 

- 

Financial instruments presentation b (13,856) (13,146) (14,097) (13,827) 

Elimination of start-up and other costs c (7,312) (9,306) (5,103) (4,140)  

Measurement of operating leases d (377) (143) (49) - 

Measurements of equity instruments e 2,604  1,001  454  506 

Inventory measurement at average weighted 

cost 
f 3,254  (437) 1,338  

2,799 

Actuarial valuation of employee benefits g (621) (792) (659) (360)  

Provision for doubtful debt h (3,206) (4,142) (3,893) (4,364)  

Accounting for investments in associates i (379) (33) 471  279 

Cash-settled share based payment j 1,996 1,286 1,034 974 

Total adjustments  (35,467) (47,321) (25,936) (18,133)  

Reclassifications:      

US asset acquisition k - - - - 

Finance leases l - - - - 

Total reclassifications  - - - - 

IFRS  147,327 103,956 67,982 63,073 

 

The following table presents the reconciliation of the profit for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

2020 and 2021 in accordance with ITA GAAP to the profit calculated under IFRS: 

 

Amounts in €/000 Note 

Profit (loss) 

as of 

December 

31, 2021 

Profit (loss) 

as of 

December 

31, 2020 

Profit (loss) as 

of December 

31, 2019 

ITA GAAP  12,870 (385) 6,528 

Adjustments:     

Elimination of Property, plant and equipment revaluation a 4,756  7,260  1,198  

Financial instruments presentation b (828) 705  (641) 

Elimination of start-up and other costs c 2,269  (390) (906) 

Measurement of leases d (234) (94) (49) 

Measurements of equity instruments j (2,884) (1,040) (126) 

Measurement of inventory at average weighted cost f 3,695   (1,776) (1,463) 

Actuarial valuation of employee benefits g 112  30  40  

Provision for doubtful debt h 935  (249) 473  

Accounting for investments in associates i -    (1,739) (1,034) 

Total adjustments  7,821  2,707  (2,508) 

Reclassifications:     

Revenues from sale of scraps  - - - 

Work performed internally and capitalised  - - - 

Total reclassification  - - - 

IFRS  20,691 2,322                  4,020  

Other comprehensive income     

Total comprehensive income under IFRS  20,691 2,322                  4,020  

 

Note: no statement of comprehensive income was produced under ITA GAAP, therefore the 

reconciliation starts with profit/(loss) under ITA GAAP 

 

F. Comments on the reclassifications and adjustments 

 

F.1 Description of adjustments 

 

(a) Elimination of Property, plant and equipment revaluation 

As permitted by the Italian law, Property, plant and equipment have been revalued during years 2019 

and 2020. The revaluation under this specific Italian law is not permitted for IFRS purpose. 

The following table summarized the effect of elimination of the revaluation of assets: 



 

 

 

 

Amounts in €/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

Property, plant and equipment (25,360) (30,059) (7,534) 

Deferred tax assets 7,411 8,025 2,102 

Investments in associates 379 379 - 

Current tax liabilities - 46 - 

Equity (17,570) (21,609) (5,432) 

Other income 119 - - 

Depreciation and amortization 

expenses 
6,101 1,636 - 

Share of results of associates - 379 - 

Income taxes (1,464) 5,244 1,198 

Profit for the year 4,756 7,260 1,198 

 

(b) Financial instruments presentation 

Under IAS 32, any contractual obligation to purchase non-controlling interests – such as a put option 

granted to non-controlling interests – gives rise to a financial liability measured at the present value of the 

redemption amount. Because the Group has concluded that has a present ownership interest in these 

shares, the application of the IAS 32 at the Transition Date has resulted in the derecognition of the equity 

attributable to NCI and the recognition of a financial liabilities for an amount equal to the present value 

of the redemption amount. Any difference between the financial liability and the carrying amount of the 

equity attributable to NCI has been reclassified within the equity attributable to the Group. 

As of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 the Group has recognised any change in the liabilities, in 

accordance with IFRS 9, through profit or loss. The table below summarize the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

As of 

January 1 

2019 

Non-current financial liabilities and borrowings 13,856 13,146 14,097 13,827 

Equity 13,856 13,146 14,097 13,827 

Financial income - 952 - - 

Financial costs (828) (247) (641) - 

Profit / (loss) for the year (828) 705 (641) - 

 

(c) Elimination of start-up cost and other costs 

This adjustment regards the elimination of amounts recognised in intangible assets under ITA GAAP that 

do not meet the IFRS capitalization criteria at the Transition Date. 

Under IAS 38, start-up costs and similar expenses are recognised in profit or loss when they are incurred. 

Therefore, at the Transition Date, such costs capitalised in prior periods as well as in 2019 and 2020 and 

2021 have been eliminated. 

The table below summarized the effects of the adjustment: 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of 

December 

31, 2019 

As of 

January 

1 2019 

Intangible assets (9,820) (12,523) (6,885) (5,665) 

Deferred tax assets 2,508 3,217  1,782  1,525 

Equity (7,312) (9,305) (5,103) (4,140) 

Increases of non-current assets from in-house production - (165) (1,752) - 

Costs for external services (257) (280) (92) - 

Personnel costs - (3,022) (616) - 

Depreciation and amortization expenses 3,235 1,642  1,298  - 

Income taxes (709) 1,435  257  - 

(Loss)/ Profit for the year 2,269 (390) (906) - 

 

(d) Measurement of leases 

In the consolidated financial statements prepared under ITA GAAP, the lease payments referring to 

operating leases were accounted for as an expense in the Statement of Profit or Loss on an accrual basis. 

In accordance with IFRS 16, the Group has recognised a right-of-use asset among the assets, representing 

the right to use the underlying leased asset, and a lease liability (split into current and non-current items) 



 

 

 

among the liabilities, representing the obligation to make the lease payments foreseen under the lease. 

The principal amount of the lease payments have been recognised as a reduction of such liability, and 

the interest amount in profit or loss on an accrual basis. 

The section on optional exemptions for first-time adopters of IFRS contains a more detailed description of 

the approach applied to leases and the optional exemptions adopted by the Group. 

The table below shows the related details: 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 

1, 2019 

Right-of-use assets 47,063 37,349 20,939 22,684 

Deferred tax assets 154 69 44 - 

Non-current lease liabilities 42,192 33,772 18,530 20,329 

Current lease liabilities 5,402 3,789 2,502 2,355 

Equity (377) (143) (49) - 

Costs for external services 5,285 3,776 2,909 - 

Depreciation and amortization expenses (4,845) (3,339) (2,562) - 

Financial costs (758) (556) (440) - 

Income taxes 84 25 44 - 

(Loss) for the year (234) (94) (49) - 

 

(e) Measurements of investments in equity instruments 

Investments in Kuroda 

In accordance with IFRS 9, at the Transition Date, the Group measured investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI, whereas under ITA GAAP these were measured at historical cost. 

 

The table below summarize the related effects: 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 1, 

2019 

Non-current financial assets 2,636  1,013  460  512  

Deferred tax liabilities 32  12  6  6  

Equity 2,604  1,001  454  506  

 

(f) Measurement of inventory at average weighted cost 

In accordance with IAS 2, the cost of inventories should be determined by using the FIFO (First-In, First-

Out) method or the weighted average cost method.  

Under ITA GAAP, the Group measured the cost of inventories using the LIFO (Last-In, First-Out) method; 

however, as this method is not permitted under IFRS, at the Transition Date, inventories were restated 

using the weighted average cost method. 

The table below summarized the related effects: 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 1, 

2019 

Inventories 4,518  (602) 1,857  3,886 

Deferred tax liabilities 1,264  (165) 519  1,087 

Equity 3,254  (437) 1,338  2,799 

Change in work in progress, semi-

finished and finished product 

inventories 

3,055  (1,381) 633  

- 

Costs for purchases of raw 

materials 
2,068  (1,079) (2,664) 

- 

Income taxes (1,428) 684  568  - 

(Loss)/ Profit for the year 3,695  (1,776) (1,463) - 

 

(g) Actuarial valuation of employee benefits 

Under ITA GAAP, post-employment benefits (pensions, life insurance, healthcare, etc.) are recognised 

on an accrual basis over the period of service of the employees, in compliance with the applicable 

legislation and employment agreements. 

Under IFRS, post-employment benefits are classified as either “defined contribution plans” or “defined 



 

 

 

benefit plans”. 

In accordance with IAS 19, the provision for employees in Italy is classified as a defined benefit plan until 

December 31, 2006, and it is measured applying statistical and demographic assumptions and actuarial 

valuation methods. Pursuant to a change in the Italian legislation, the TFR provision accrued after January 

1, 2007, is classified as a defined contribution plan. The following table summarizes the related effects: 

Amounts in €/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

As of January 1, 

2019 

Deferred tax assets 178 250  207  114  

Employee benefits 799 1,042  866  474  

Equity (621) (792) (659) (360) 

Personnel costs 125 27  44  -    

Financial income 22 13  9  -    

Income taxes (35) (10) (13) -    

Profit for the year 112 30  40  -    

 

(h) Provision for doubtful debt 

Under ITA GAAP, credit losses are recognised using an incurred losses approach. Under IFRS, the Group 

recognised an allowance for trade receivables adopting a forward-looking expected credit loss 

approach, using historical, current and prospective data as well as timing of the recoverability of the 

related cash flows. The effect related to bad debt provision accounted for IFRS 9 is summarized in the 

table below: 

Amounts in €/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

As of January 1, 

2019 

Deferred tax assets 1,020 1,351  1,261  1,422  

Trade receivables (4,227) (5,493) (5,154) (5,786) 

Equity (3,206) (4,142) (3,893) (4,364) 

Other expenses 1,266 (340) 632  -    

Income taxes (331) 91  (159) -    

Profit / (loss) for the year 935 (249) 473  -    

 

(i) Accounting for investments in associates 

Under ITA GAAP, in the consolidated financial statements, associates can be consolidated using the 

“proportional method”, which allows the parent company to consolidate assets, liabilities, revenue and 

expenses of the associate for its proportion of ownership interest. The application of IAS 28, required that 

investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, consequently, the Group has 

derecognised the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses for its proportion of ownership interest and has 

recognised the corresponding Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 

associate. The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

Decem

ber 31, 

2021 

As of 

Decem

ber 31, 

2020 

As of 

Decem

ber 31, 

2019 

As of 

January 

1, 2019 

Intangible assets - (79) (320) (231) 

Property, plant and equipment - (1.760) (7.287) (5.863) 

Investments in associates (379) 11.636 11.305 10.304 

Non-current financial assets - - 1.262 459 

Other non-current assets - (371) (317) (321) 

Deferred tax assets - (222) (248) (23) 

Inventories - (2.324) (3.406) (5.246) 

Trade receivables - (2.040) (4.262) (2.994) 

Other current assets - 162 703 (830) 

Cash and cash equivalents - (7.575) (5.620) (5.096) 

Non-current financial liabilities and borrowings - (196) (1.028) (1.493) 

Employee benefits - (131) (142) (170) 

Provisions - - - - 

Deferred tax liabilities - (16) 16 - 

Other non-current liabilities - (438) (397) (817) 

/Current financial liabilities and borrowings - (156) (4.081) (3.086) 

Trade payables - (1.474) (2.875) (3.429) 



 

 

 

Other payables - (175) (154) (1.096) 

Current tax liabilities - 46 - (29) 

Equity (379) (33) 471 279 

Revenues (5,959) (9.992) (14.128) - 

Other income (207) (13) (44) - 

Change in work in progress, semi-finished and finished product 

inventories 
- (485) 1.831 - 

Increases of non-current assets from in-house production - - (12) - 

Costs for raw materials, supplies, consumables and goods 1,961 3.752 5.661 - 

Costs for external services 1,002 1.989 2.781 - 

Personnel costs 1,095 2.301 2.834 - 

Other expenses (68) 39 93 - 

Share of results of associates 1,446 (569) (1.120) - 

Depreciation and amortization expenses 302 636 783 - 

Financial income - (7) (19) - 

Financial costs 3 65 101 - 

Income taxes 425 545 205 - 

Loss for the year - (1.739) (1.034) - 

 

(j) Cash-settled share-based payment 

 

Investments in E.M.S. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, at the Transition Date, the Group measured investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI, whereas under ITA GAAP these were measured at historical cost. 

 

Share purchase plan with related parties 

The Group, through its subsidiary Eurotranciatura, has sold to four employees with strategic responsibilities, 

its share of interest in E.M.S. S.p.A. (parent company of EuroGroup Laminations). The arrangement 

provides an obligation for the employees to purchase the share in yearly instalments over a ten-year 

period. The effectiveness of the annual purchase of the shares (vested shares) is subject to the 

permanence of the employees within the Group during the ten years period (vesting period). The 

arrangements also provide that the employee is entitled to receive dividends that eventually will be 

distributed over the vesting period even for the shares that are retained by the Group (unvested shares). 

If the employee leaves the Group’s employment during the service period (bad leaver), the vested 

shares may be returned to Group, upon its discretion, at the same purchase price.   

The transaction as a whole has been assessed falling within the scope of the IFRS 2, therefore the share 

purchase arrangement has been classified as a cash-settled share based payment transaction, because 

the arrangement provides for an obligation for the Group to deliver shares of the parent company which 

in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are not considered as own equity instruments 

(treasury shares). Under ITA GAAP, according to the legal form of the transaction, no loan receivable is 

recognised for the present value of the future cash flows, but the shares continue to be recognised as 

an asset until they are delivered to the employees. Upon payment, the Group derecognizes the shares 

and recognizes a gain corresponding to the difference between the cash collected and the carrying 

amount of the shares. 

The table below summarize the related effects: 

 

Amounts in Euro/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

As of January 1, 

2019 

Non-current financial assets 6,469 3,033 1,838 1,857 

Deferred tax assets 1,576 689 384 79 

Equity 1,996 1,286 1,034 974 

Deferred tax liabilities 2,112 977 569 511 

Other non-current liabilities 3,937 1,459 619 451 

Personnel costs (3,698) (1,271) (357) - 

Financial income (74) (74) (74) - 

Income taxes 888 305 305 - 

Profit / (loss) for the year (2,885) (1,040) (126) - 

 

  



 

 

 

Description of the main reclassifications. 

 

IFRS adoption required some reclassifications that did not affect either the consolidated profit for the 

period or the consolidated equity.  

Below is a brief description of the main reclassifications in the consolidated statement of financial position 

at the Transition Date, as of December 31, 2019, as of December 31, 2020 and as of December 31, 2021 

and in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, December 

31, 2020 and December 31, 2021. 

 

(j) US asset acquisition 

 

In the first months of 2014, the Group through the US subsidiary Eurotranciatura USA, with the purpose of 

penetrating the US market, has acquired from a local manufacturer the lamination division for the 

production of refrigeration compressors. At the Transition Date, the Group has verified as to whether the 

transaction under IFRS could be presented as a business combination or an asset acquisition. The 

directors have decided to perform a concentration test in order to verify that substantially all of the fair 

value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in the group of similar assets, and therefore conclude 

that the acquisition is not a business combination. After the assessment, because all the fair value was 

concentrated in the machineries acquired the directors have concluded that the transaction was not a 

business combination, but rather an asset acquisition. As required by the IFRS 1, the optional exemption 

can only be taken for only business combination, the Group has restated the acquisition concerned and 

has allocated, and thus reclassified, goodwill previously recognised under ITA GAAP to the item of 

Property, plant and equipment assets. The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 

1, 2019 

Goodwill (758) (950) (1.349) (1.633) 

Property, plant and equipment assets 758 950 1.349 1.633 

Equity - - - - 

 

(k) Finance leases 

 

The group reclassified assets capitalised under financial lease arrangements within the line-item 

“property, plant and equipment” to the line-item “right-of-use assets” following the adoption of the IFRS 

16. 

The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 

1, 2019 

Property, plant and equipment assets (13,897) (5,342) (1,765) (1,113) 

Right-of-use assets 13,897 5,342 1,765 1,113 

Equity - - - - 

 

(l) Payables to Factoring 

 

The group reclassified reassessed factoring arrangements at the Transition Date, in order to verify whether 

in accordance with IFRS 9 the Group had transferred substantially all risk and rewards without retaining 

any continuing involvement in the transfer of trade receivables. In this regard, the adoption of IFRS has 

determined a recognition of a financial liability to factoring and a corresponding increase of trade 

receivables for the amount which the derecognition criteria were not met.  

The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 

As of 

December 31, 

2021 

As of 

December 31, 

2020 

As of 

December 31, 

2019 

As of January 

1, 2019 

Trade receivables - 8,381 11,705 6,409 

Current financial liabilities and borrowings 11,781 8,381 11,705 6,409 



 

 

 

Other payables (11,781) - - - 

Equity - - - - 

 

(m) Revenues from sale of scrap 

 

Following the application of IFRS 15 the Group reclassified the income deriving from the selling of metal 

scrap as a reduction of Costs for purchases of raw materials. 

The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

Revenues (77,146) (34.212) (31.236) 

Costs for purchases of raw materials 77,146 34.212 31.236 

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - 

 

(n) Work performed internally and capitalised 

 

Costs incurred for work performed internally and capitalised under ITA GAAP are classified as a separate 

line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, at the Transition Date they have been reclassified 

by nature, netting the related costs. 

The following table summarizes the related effects: 

 

Amounts in €/000 
As of December 

31, 2021 

As of December 

31, 2020 

As of December 

31, 2019 

Work performed internally and capitalised (2,722) (6,248) (3,898) 

Costs for purchases of raw materials 2,174 4,136 1,447 

Costs for external services 41 561 944 

Personnel costs 507 1,551 1,506 

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - 

 


